## **COLLECTIVE AGREEMENT**

#### **BETWEEN**

## **UNITED FOOD & COMMERCIAL WORKERS UNION, LOCAL 1518**

#### **AND**

UNITED STEEL, PAPER AND FORESTRY, RUBBER, MANUFACTURING, ENERGY, ALLIED INDUSTRIAL AND SERVICE WORKERS INTERNATIONAL UNION (UNITED STEELWORKERS)

**ON BEHALF OF LOCAL UNION 2009** 

**DIRECTORS & SUPERVISORS' UNIT** 

April 1, 2020 - March 31, 2024

Errors & Omissions Excepted

cope-343

## **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

ARTICLE 1 - BARGAINING AGENCY AND RECOGNITION	. 4
ARTICLE 2 - DEFINITION OF EMPLOYEE	. 5
ARTICLE 3 - MANAGEMENT	. 5
ARTICLE 4 - UNION SECURITY PROVISIONS	. 5
ARTICLE 5 - HOURS OF WORK	. 6
ARTICLE 6 - PAID HOLIDAYS	. 7
ARTICLE 7 - VACATIONS WITH PAY	. 8
ARTICLE 8 - SENIORITY	. 9
ARTICLE 9 - SAFETY & HEALTH	11
ARTICLE 10 - GENERAL PROVISIONS	11
ARTICLE 11 - GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE	23
ARTICLE 12 - EXPEDITED ARBITRATION	23
ARTICLE 13 – ARBITRATION	24
ARTICLE 14 - HEALTH AND WELFARE	24
ARTICLE 15 - DENTAL PLAN	29
ARTICLE 16 - PENSION PLAN	30
ARTICLE 17 - LEAVE OF ABSENCE WITHOUT PAY	32
ARTICLE 18 – WAGES	35
ARTICLE 19 - JOB POSTING	37
ARTICLE 20 - TECHNOLOGICAL CHANGE	38

ARTICLE 21 - SAVINGS CLAUSE	.38
ARTICLE 22 - HUMANITY FUND	.39
ARTICLE 23 - JUSTICE & DIGNITY	.39
ARTICLE 24 - DURATION OF AGREEMENT	.39
APPENDIX A TERM AND WAGES	.41
APPENDIX B - DUTY TO ACCOMMODATE PROTOCOL (NEW)	.42
APPENDIX C – RESPECTFUL WORKPLACE (NEW)	.50
LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING #1	.57
LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING #2 – EXTENDED HEALTH BENEFITS (NEW)	.58
LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING #3 – RX DRUG FORMULARY (NEW)	.59
LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING #4 – DIRECTOR ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES (NEW)	.60

#### **COLLECTIVE AGREEMENT**

By and Between: UNITED FOOD & COMMERCIAL WORKERS UNION, LOCAL 1518

(Hereinafter referred to as the "EMPLOYER")

And: UNITED STEELWORKERS

On behalf of LOCAL UNION 2009 DIRECTORS & SUPERVISORS'

UNIT

(Hereinafter referred to as the "UNION")

#### WITNESSETH:

**WHEREAS** it is the intent and purpose of the Parties hereto that this Agreement will promote and improve industrial and economic relationships between the Employer and the Union, and to set forth herein the basic Agreement covering rates of pay, hours of work, and conditions of employment to be observed between the Parties. The Parties further recognize that the relationship shall bear in mind the UFCW values as follows:

- 1. Integrity We behave with integrity in everything we do and say. We act in an open, ethical, and forthright manner.
- 2. Respect We treat all people with dignity and consideration.
- 3. Duty & Responsiveness We carry out our duties with a high level of engagement, focus and accountability.
- 4. Loyalty & Honour We encourage and support one another and stand together as an organization.

**NOW THEREFORE**, in consideration of the mutual covenants and agreements herein set forth, the Parties hereto mutually agree as follows:

#### **ARTICLE 1 - BARGAINING AGENCY AND RECOGNITION**

- 1.01 The Employer recognizes the Union as the sole and exclusive bargaining agency for its employees, as described in the current Certification issued by the British Columbia Department of Labour, for the purpose of collective bargaining with respect to rates of pay, hours of employment and other conditions of employment.
- 1.02 Employees whose regular jobs are not in the bargaining unit will not work on any jobs that would result in layoff of permanent staff.
- 1.03 **CONTRACT EMPLOYEES:** Contract employees are individuals who from time to time are hired, at the prerogative and direction of the Employer because of their extraordinary skills, experience and abilities to perform certain specific tasks for the Local Union. (For example, lawyers, public relations, printing, photography, safety & health, etc.) This list is for the purpose of example only and is not to be construed to limit the scope or professions that may be hired as contract employees.

These individuals survive in the employment of Local 1518 completely at the pleasure of the Employer and are not part of the bargaining unit.

Local 1518 will not contract out work which is normally performed by employees in the bargaining unit if such contracting out would cause any employee to be laid off.

#### **ARTICLE 2 - DEFINITION OF EMPLOYEE**

2.01 The term "employee" as used in and for the purpose of this Agreement shall include those employees of the Employer at and from the Employer's present or relocated premises for which the Union is certified, except those employees excluded by the Labour Relations Board of British Columbia.

#### **ARTICLE 3 - MANAGEMENT**

3.01 Management rights exercised by the Employer, unless expressly limited by this Agreement, are reserved to and are vested exclusively in the Employer. Provided, however, that this Article will not be used in a discriminatory manner against an employee. Based on the protected grounds under the BC Human Rights Code, or because of membership or activity in the Union.

The grounds protected in the BC Human Rights Code are:

Age; Ancestry; Colour; Criminal Conviction; Family Status; Gender Expression; Gender Identity; Indigenous Identity; Marital Status; Mental Disability; Physical Disability; Place of Origin; Political Belief; Race; Religion; Sex; Sexual Orientation; Source of Income

#### **ARTICLE 4 - UNION SECURITY PROVISIONS**

- 4.01 (a) The Employer agrees that any present employee of the Employer, at the date of the signing of this Agreement, will, as a condition of continued employment, maintain membership in the Union in good standing.
  - (b) All new employees after the ratification date of this Agreement will, as a condition of continued employment, join the Union after completing their probationary period, and as a condition of continued employment maintain membership in the Union in good standing.
- 4.02 (a) The Employer agrees to deduct once each month from the earnings of every employee covered by this Agreement such dues as may be fixed by the International Union and communicated to the Employer by the Union. The total amount so deducted, with an itemized statement of same in duplicate will be forwarded to the Union in the manner provided for in Subsection (d) hereof.
  - (b) The Employer agrees to deduct an International Union Assessment or Assessments, when advised to do so by the International Treasurer or Deputy, from the earnings of every employee covered by this Agreement. The total amount so deducted, with an itemized statement of same in duplicate, will be forwarded to the Union in the manner provided for in Subsection (d) hereof.

- (c) The Employer agrees to deduct an initiation fee in the amount authorized by the employee upon receipt of an authorization, signed by such employee. The total amount so deducted, with an itemized statement of same in duplicate, will be forwarded to the Union in the manner provided for in Subsection (d) hereof.
- (d) Cheques will be made payable to United Steelworkers and forwarded to:

United Steelworkers P.O. Box 9083 Commerce Court Postal Station Toronto, Ontario M5L 1K1

prior to the 15th of the month next following that in which the deductions apply.

- 4.03 The Employer agrees to have all present and future employees covered by this Agreement, as a condition of continued employment, sign a check-off card authorizing the Employer to implement the provisions of 4.02 hereof, and the Union agrees to indemnify the Employer and hold it harmless against any claim which may arise in complying with the provisions of this Article.
- 4.04 (a) Union members are to be supplied with Union deduction totals for income tax purposes. The Employer agrees to show on employees' "T4" slips the total Union deductions for the previous taxation year.
  - (b) Union members to be supplied complete breakdown of taxable benefits and earnings.

## **ARTICLE 5 - HOURS OF WORK**

- 5.01 It is understood that the hours of work and workloads of Directors/Supervisors must be flexible; however, when areas of concern arise with respect to this, the Employer and the Director/Supervisor will meet to resolve the problem.
- 5.02 ACCUMULATED PAID TIME OFF (A.T.O.): Regular full-time employees shall accumulate paid time off at the rate of one half day for each basic work week completed. Basic work weeks shall be those described in this sub-section and shall also include time off due to jury duty and witness duty, bereavement leave as set out in Article 10.

  Days off with pay as a result of accumulated paid time off shall, in the week in which they are taken, be considered as hours of that basic work week.

Full-time employees shall accumulate the one half day per week A.T.O. on all weeks of vacation.

Employees shall not fail to accumulate A.T.O. credits in a week in which they are sick if such employees have used equivalent banked sick time.

When an employee has accumulated one day A.T.O., they shall receive one day off with pay, scheduled by mutual agreement between the employee and the Employer. A.T.O

days may be taken off as full or half days, and may be scheduled individually or consecutively by mutual agreement.

When an employee is required by the employer to work on a regularly scheduled day off or A.T.O. day, the employee shall have the option of taking the equivalent time off at their convenience

Employees cannot be required to take A.T.O. when they have no credits in the A.T.O. bank.

Employees may opt to take payment in lieu of some or all of their banked A.T.O., to a maximum of forty (40) hours. Requests for payouts can be made twice per year – on the second Friday in February, and on the second Friday in September, and will be paid out within sixty (60) days.

Accumulated A.T.O. in excess of eighty (80) hours shall be scheduled by the employee within thirty (30) days. In the event the employee does not schedule time off within thirty (30) days upon notification by the Employer, then the Employer shall have the right to schedule sufficient A.T.O. to reduce the amount but only to the extent that the employee shall retain a minimum of thirty-two (32) hours in their bank.

#### **ARTICLE 6 - PAID HOLIDAYS**

- 6.01 All employees covered by this Agreement will receive a day's pay at their regular straight time rate for each of the following Paid Holidays (regardless of the day on which the holiday falls) in addition to any wages which they may be in receipt of for work performed on such holidays:
  - 1. New Year's Day
  - 2. Family Day
  - 3. Good Friday
  - 4. Easter Monday
  - 5. Victoria Day
  - 6. Canada Day
  - 7. B.C. Day
  - 8. Labour Day
  - 9. National Day for Truth and Reconciliation
  - 10. Thanksgiving Day
  - 11. Remembrance Day
  - 12. Christmas Day
  - 13. Boxing Day

and any other day declared a Statutory Holiday by the Municipal, Provincial and/or Federal Government.

6.02 When Paid Holidays fall on Saturday or Sunday they will be celebrated on Monday, and when they fall on consecutive Saturday and Sunday or consecutive Sunday and Monday, they will be celebrated on the following Monday and Tuesday.

- 6.03 Should any of the above holidays occur during an employee's vacation period, they will be given an extra day's vacation with pay for each holiday to be taken at the beginning of or the end of the holiday period.
- 6.04 In order to qualify for a day's pay for the above Paid Holidays the employee must have completed thirty (30) calendar days employment with the Employer.
- 6.05 Employees not actively employed because of:
  - Lay-off
  - Unpaid leave of absence

or

Illness or Injury and not eligible for Paid Sick Leave, W.C.B., or Weekly Indemnity payments for the involved Paid Holiday(s)

and who work some time within the fourteen (14) day period prior to or the fourteen day period following the Paid Holiday(s) in question, will qualify for Paid Holiday pay for such Paid Holiday(s).

6.06 <u>HOLIDAY EXCHANGE:</u> The Employer agrees to recognize all non-traditional statutory holidays as they may apply to other religious/cultural beliefs. It is understood and agreed that such non-traditional statutory holidays will be taken in lieu of traditional statutory holidays.

#### **ARTICLE 7 - VACATIONS WITH PAY**

# 7.01 <u>EMPLOYEES WILL RECEIVE VACATIONS AND BE PAID FOR THE VACATION IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE FOLLOWING SCHEDULE:</u>

YEARS OF CONTINUOUS SERVICE IN THE BARGAINING UNIT	ANNUAL VACATION PERIOD
Less than 8 years	4 weeks
8 years but less than 16 years	5 weeks
16 years but less than 22 years	6 weeks
22 years and over	7 weeks

Any newly hired employee is automatically given credit for eight (8) years of service "for vacation entitlement only".

- 7.02 **VACATION ALLOTMENT SICKNESS INJURY LAYOFF:** Authorized leave of absence for sickness or accident or other cause acceptable to the Employer, excluding layoff beyond two (2) months, shall not affect the employee's right in respect to vacations with pay.
- 7.03 **VACATION PERIOD:** Vacation schedule will be finalized December 31st of each year, for the following calendar year. Employees will have preference of vacation periods in accordance with their seniority. An employee's vacation(s) shall not be changed once posted on the annual vacation planner without the consent of the employee. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Employer will have the right to cancel vacations to

meet operational requirements. Seniority will prevail in the cancellation of vacations provided membership services are not prejudiced.

- 7.04 **VACATIONS EXCEEDING THREE WEEKS:** Vacations with pay in excess of three (3) consecutive weeks for which employees may be eligible shall be scheduled sufficiently in advance and taken at a mutually agreed upon time.
- 7.05 **VACATION PAY WHEN PAYABLE:** Vacation pay will be paid in the week preceding vacation. The amount of the vacation payment will relate directly to the portion of the vacation time entitlement which is being taken at that particular time.
- 7.06 **VACATION PAY ON TERMINATION:** Employees who leave the employ of the Employer will be paid vacation pay at the time of severance on the following percentage basis on the earnings of the employee for which vacation pay has not been previously paid.

-	Less than one year employment	4%
-	1 year but less than 8 years employment	8%
-	8 years but less than 16 years employment	10%
-	16 years but less than 22 years employment	12%
_	22 years or more of employment	14%

7.07 If a bereavement occurs while an employee is on vacation, the time will be considered as bereavement leave not vacation time. Vacation time lost through such bereavement leave can be taken at a time mutually agreed upon by the employer and the employee.

In the event an employee becomes sick during the term of their vacation, verified by a doctor's certificate, the employee shall, upon proper notification to the employer, be considered to be on sick leave. Vacation period lost through sick leave can be taken at a time mutually agreed upon by the employer and employee.

7.08 Employees hired out of an existing bargaining unit of the Employer will be credited with the number of years of service earned in that previous bargaining unit for purposes of determining that amount of vacation entitlement only.

#### **ARTICLE 8 - SENIORITY**

- 8.01 (a) **SENIORITY PRINCIPLE:** The Parties recognize that job opportunity and seniority should increase in proportion to length of service. It is agreed that the term "seniority" as used herein, shall have reference to an employee's right to a job based upon their length of service with the Employer, and their ability to fulfil the job requirements.
  - (b) All layoffs, and re-hiring after layoffs will be done strictly in accordance with the principles set forth in 8.01 (a).

(c) <u>PROBATIONARY PERIOD</u>: Seniority of each employee covered by this Agreement will be established after a probationary period of six (6) months.

## 8.02 **SENIORITY WILL BE MAINTAINED AND ACCUMULATED DURING:**

- (a) occupational injury
- (b) absence from employment while serving in the non-permanent armed forces of Canada
- (c) absence due to illness or non-occupational injury
- (d) jury duty, Union gatherings, and collective bargaining negotiations
- (e) authorized leave of absence
- (f) employees will have lifetime recall rights
- (g) in the event of recall, and if the employee rejects the position offered, then recall rights are permanently terminated.
- 8.03 **RECALL PROCEDURE:** Laid off employees with seniority will be given the first opportunity to be recalled. Employees will be notified of recall by telephone, telegraph, or other type of message which will be confirmed by registered mail. An employee being recalled must return to work as soon as reasonably possible after the first notice of recall as described above, but no longer than ten (10) working days after receipt of the registered notice, unless otherwise mutually agreed upon by the employer and the employee.

A copy of the notice will be given to the Shop Steward or Union Committee member.

- 8.04 (a) SENIORITY LISTS: The Employer will prepare Seniority lists of all employees and present to the Union within thirty (30) days of the signing of the Agreement. This list will be posted for a period of sixty (60) days, and will establish the seniority and regular classification of an employee who does not protest their status in writing, within the said sixty (60) days. Said lists will commence with the most senior employee, carry on downwards to the most junior employee, and contain the following information:
  - 1. employee's name
  - 2. employee's starting date
  - 3. employee's length of service in years and days
  - 4. employee's regular classification
  - 5. probationary employees will also be shown on the list.
  - (b) <u>SENIORITY LISTS ADDITIONAL</u>: Additional revised lists will be furnished to the Union as required from time to time. The Union agrees not to request such lists more frequently than once each three (3) months except during the months of April through September when they will be supplied each month if requested.

#### **ARTICLE 9 - SAFETY & HEALTH**

#### 9.01 **SAFETY & HEALTH - RESPONSIBILITY:**

- (a) The Employer agrees that it is the responsibility of the Employer to make adequate provisions for the safety and health of the employees during the hours of their employment.
- (b) The Union and the Employees agree to cooperate fully with the Employer on all matters of Health and Safety.
- (c) The Employer shall supply a properly equipped First Aid/Sick Room to cover all offices. Where there are remote offices at the very least the Employer will supply first aid kits.
- 9.02 **SAFETY COMMITTEE:** It is mutually agreed that a Safety Committee consisting of employees selected by the Union will meet with an Administration representative or representatives at the request of either party. Minutes of such meetings will be posted on the notice board.
- 9.03 **HOUSEKEEPING AND SANITATION:** All employees, as well as the Employer, will observe the rules of good housekeeping and sanitation.
- 9.04 **Washroom, Lunchroom:** Adequate washroom, lunchroom and a place to hang clothing will be provided by the Employer and kept in a sanitary condition. The Employer will supply towels, soap and other supplies normally found in rest rooms. Employees will co-operate by observing the rules of cleanliness.
- 9.05 **INJURED EMPLOYEE TRANSPORTATION:** Employees injured on the job will be provided free transportation by the Employer to and from a doctor's office, or a hospital and will be accompanied by a qualified person with First Aid training, if available on the Employer's premises. Employees requiring transportation home from a doctor's office or hospital following initial treatment shall be reimbursed for costs of such transportation.
- 9.06 **INJURED EMPLOYEE DAILY EARNINGS:** If an employee is injured on the job and a doctor recommends no further work on that day, the Employer will maintain the employee's normal daily earnings and benefits for the day of injury.

#### **ARTICLE 10 - GENERAL PROVISIONS**

### 10.01 **JOINT LABOUR MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE:**

The Employer and Bargaining Unit mutually agree to constitute a Joint Labour Management Committee. The Committee shall consist of Union Representatives and Management with at least as many Union representatives as Management. The Union Committee shall be elected or appointed from the Bargaining Unit.

The Joint Labour Management Committee shall meet at least bimonthly or upon request of either Party. Dates for meetings will be set annually, for the coming

year. Union representatives shall be given reasonable time (15 minutes) to prepare for the meeting, during regular (paid) working hours.

Subject matter shall include but is not limited to:

- 1. Policy/Rules
- 2. Workload and job duties
- 3. Job postings
- 4. Hours of work
- 5. Employee Assistance
- 6. Any other issues impacting the workplace

The Joint Labour Management Committee will have regard for the need to promote cooperation, better communication and adapt to the changes and challenges facing the Parties.

The Parties agree that, where there is a breakdown in the effectiveness of the JLM, a joint request will be made to the Mediation Division of the Labour Relations Board for a facilitator to help the Union and the Employer develop a more cooperative relationship.

- 10.02 <u>Bulletin Board</u>: The Union will have the use of one (1) bulletin board on the premises of the Employer and provided by the Employer for the purpose of posting official Union notices which may be of interest to Union members. All such material may be posted only upon the authority of the Executive Committee of the union or Shop Stewards. The Employer agrees to supply a bulletin board in all of their offices for the exclusive use of the Union.
- 10.03 **NOTICE BETWEEN EMPLOYER AND UNION:** Any notice required to be given to the Employer under the terms of this Agreement will be given by registered mail addressed to the Employer at its registered address. Any notice to be given to the Union under the terms of this Agreement shall be given by registered mail addressed to the Secretary of the Union at its registered address.
- 10.04 <u>Union Access</u>: Representatives of the Union will have access to the Employer's premises by obtaining the permission of the management. Such permission will not be unreasonably withheld.
- 10.05 **BEREAVEMENT PAY:** In the event of death in the immediate family of an employee, the employee will be granted leave of absence with pay. The length of such absence shall be at the discretion of the Employer. The term "immediate family" shall mean, spouse, partner, parent, child, **siblings**, aunt, uncle, mother-in-law, father-in-law, sister-in-law, brother-in-law, son-in-law, daughter-in-law, grandmother, grandfather, grandchild, all step family members and same sex partners or any relative living in the household of the employee.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, if the death is a case of spouse, father, mother, or child, the employee shall be entitled to one (1) weeks' leave of absence with pay.

Time off due to the death of a member of an employee's family must be taken at the time of the bereavement, though one (1) day may be used for a memorial service that is delayed. This may be combined with up to four (4) days of A.T.O. at the request of the employee. Requests to use A.T.O. under this section will not be unreasonably denied.

- 10.06 **APPENDICES:** The attached Appendices are a part of this Collective Agreement and the Parties are bound by their terms.
- 10.07 Jury and Witness Duty Pay: An employee summoned to Jury Duty or Witness Duty, where subpoenaed in a court of law, shall be paid wages amounting to the difference paid them for Jury or Witness service and the amount they would have earned had they worked on such days. Employees on Jury or Witness Duty shall furnish the Employer with such statements of earnings as the courts may supply.

Employees shall return to work within a reasonable period of time. They shall not be required to report if less than two (2) hours of their normal shift remains to be worked. Total hours on Jury Duty or Witness Duty and actual work on the job in one (1) day shall not exceed eight (8) hours for purposes of establishing the basic work day.

## 10.08 (a) **PREGNANCY LEAVE**

- 1. An employee who is pregnant shall be given a leave of absence without loss of seniority, benefits, (unless otherwise specified in 7 below) or other privileges for a maximum of seventeen (17) weeks, up to eleven (11) weeks prior to the expected delivery date and at least six (6) weeks after the actual delivery date. The employee may choose to delay the commencement of pregnancy leave, provided they are medically fit to perform the full range of duties of their position. This will not affect the employee's entitlement to pregnancy leave.
- 2. An employee who requests leave under this section after the birth of a child or the termination of a pregnancy is entitled to up to six (6) consecutive weeks of unpaid leave beginning on the date of the birth or of the termination of the pregnancy.
- 3. An employee is entitled to up to six (6) additional consecutive weeks of unpaid leave if, for reasons related to the birth or the termination of the pregnancy, they are unable to return to work when their leave ends under subsection (1) or (2).
- 4. All such requests must be submitted in writing at least two (2) weeks prior to the day the employee proposes to begin their leave.
- 5. In addition to the pregnancy leave set out above, the attending physician certifying that the health of the mother or child may be in danger by the mother continuing to work may extend such leave prior to delivery.
- 6. The employee on pregnancy leave shall be entitled to full pay for the first week (if there is a waiting period for EI benefits), and thereafter shall have a top up to any

Employment Insurance benefits to maintain 100% of the employee's base rate of pay.

7. An employee on Pregnancy Leave shall not accrue ATO time, and shall lose entitlement to allowances and per diems in Article 18.08 after six (6) months.

## 10.08 (b) PARENTAL LEAVE

- 1. An employee who requests parental leave under this Section is entitled to:
  - (a) for a birth mother who takes leave within one year of the birth of a child and in conjunction with pregnancy leave taken under Section 10.08 (a) up to sixty-one (61) consecutive weeks of unpaid leave beginning immediately after the end of the leave taken under Section 10.08 (a).
  - (b) For a parent (including an adopting parent) who does not take pregnancy leave up to sixty-three (63) weeks of unpaid leave beginning after the child's birth and within seventy-eight (78) weeks of that event.
  - (c) An employee on parental leave shall receive top up benefits to their Employment Insurance benefits up to 70% of their base rate of pay for thirty-five weeks. If the employee has taken the extended parental leave option for their EI benefits, they may spread an equal aggregate amount of top up over the entire period of their leave.
  - (d) Employees on Parental leave shall maintain their seniority and all benefits shall be maintained by the Employer for the period of the leave.
- 2. If certified by a licensed medical practitioner that the child requires an additional period of parental care, the employee is entitled to up to five (5) additional consecutive weeks of unpaid leave, beginning immediately after the end of the leave taken under subsection 1 above.
- 3. The employee is required to give the employer four (4) weeks advance notice in writing of their intent to take a leave under subsection 1 (a), (b) or (c). The employer may request this notice be accompanied by a medical practitioner's certificate or other evidence of the employee's entitlement to leave.
- 4. An employee on Parental Leave shall not accrue ATO time, and shall lose entitlement to allowances and per diems in Article 18.08 after six (6) months.
- 10.08 **FAMILY RESPONSIBILITY LEAVE:** At the Employee's discretion they may use accumulated sick time, vacation or unpaid leave of absence to care for a family member. This leave will not be unreasonably denied.
- 10.09 **REST PERIOD:** Employees will be allowed two (2) coffee breaks of twenty (20) minutes each on Employer time: one in the first half of each shift and one in the second half.

10.10 **INTIMIDATION:** No employee shall be discharged or discriminated against for any lawful union activity, or for serving on a union committee outside of business hours, or for reporting to the Union the violation of any provision of this Agreement.

If an employee walks off the job and alleges management has deliberately coerced or intimidated them into doing so, the matter shall be considered under the grievance procedure and, if such allegations are proved to be true, then the employee shall be considered not to have resigned. Such grievances must be filed not later than five (5) days after the incident that gave rise to the situation.

This is not to be construed to restrict management personnel from reprimanding an employee as required by their position to maintain the proper operation of the office.

### 10.11 Notice or Pay in Lieu of Notice:

(a) Commencing after thirty (30) calendar days from date of employment, full-time employees when terminated by the Employer, unless guilty of rank insubordination, dishonesty, drunkenness, obvious disloyalty or absence without leave, unless having a bona fide reason for such absence, shall receive notice in writing or pay in lieu of notice as follows:

After first thirty (30) calendar days up to two (2) years of continuous service, one (1) week's notice in writing or one (1) week's wages in lieu thereof.

From two (2) years to five (5) years continuous service, two (2) weeks' notice in writing or two (2) weeks' wages in lieu thereof.

More than five (5) years continuous service, four (4) weeks' notice in writing or four (4) weeks' wages in lieu thereof.

- (b) A copy of the notice of dismissal or layoff of full-time employees who have been employed more than thirty (30) calendar days shall be forwarded to the Union office at the date of giving such notice to the employee concerned.
- 10.12 **SEVERANCE PAY:** An employee who's services are terminated due to a merger, consolidation or a permanent suspension of operations, shall receive at time of reduction one month's severance for each year of total service to a maximum of twelve (12) months' severance.
- 10.13 **UNION APPOINTEES IDENTIFICATION:** The Union will maintain with the Employer a current list of the names of Shop Stewards, Committee members and Staff Representatives.
- 10.14 **UNION COMMITTEES:** Union Committees as provided for in this Agreement, will be of a size that will not unduly curtail production.
- 10.15 **PICKET LINE:** No employee shall be required to cross a legal picket line which has been recognized by the Union.

- 10.16 **SEXUAL HARASSMENT:** Where an employee alleges that sexual harassment has occurred on the job, the employee shall have the right to grieve under the Collective Agreement.
- 10.17 **EDUCATION:** Employees attending educational or training program at the request of the Employer shall receive the following:
  - (a) Tuition fully paid by the Employer.
  - (b) Transportation costs from Employer's place of business to education/training facility, including parking fees where applicable. Transportation shall mean either public transportation or, where employee's vehicle is used, a adequate mileage allowance.
  - (c) Per diem allowance as defined for Directors and Supervisors attending conferences and seminars.
- 10.18 **<u>DUAL UNION MEMBERSHIP</u>**: Employees shall have the option of a general membership in U.F.C.W. Local 1518 and shall have membership in U.S.W. Local 2009 as per the constitution of the U.F.C.W.
- 10.19 **DEEMED TIME WORKED:** Paid vacations, statutory holidays and A.T.O. shall be considered as actual time worked for all purposes of the Collective Agreement.
- 10.20 **CHARITABLE DONATIONS:** Employee donations to charity funds shall be on a strictly voluntary basis.
- 10.21 **TIME OFF TO VOTE:** The Employer agrees that they will fully comply with any law requiring that employees be given time off to vote.
- 10.22 **POLYGRAPH TESTS:** The Employer agrees that polygraph or similar lie detector tests will not be used.
- 10.23 <u>Work Loads</u>: If an employee believes the amount of work they are required to perform is excessive over what is required from the rest of the staff and it will result in an occupational accident or occupational injury to them, the question shall be referred to **Article 10.01 and, failing resolution there, the matter may be referred to** Article 11 of this Agreement.
- 10.24 **PHYSICAL EXAMINATIONS:** Where the Employer requires an employee to take a physical examination, doctor's fees for such examination shall be paid by the Employer. Except prior to commencement of employment and the first four (4) weeks of employment, such examinations shall be taken during the employee's working hours without loss of pay to the employee.
- 10.25 <u>RESPECTFUL WORKPLACE:</u> The Employer and the Union are committed to the right of all workers to enjoy a respectful workplace and to be treated with civility, dignity and respect at work as outlined in Appendix "C" of the Collective Agreement.

- 10.26 **MOVING EXPENSES:** Employees are subject to transfer from time to time.
  - Employees who own a home at the time of the move, and wish to rent instead of sell, are advised to hire a Rental Agency to administer the property. Such agencies will be responsible for finding suitable tenants, collecting rents, paying mortgage fees and taxes and will provide regular statements or revenue and expenses to the owner. The employer will cover reasonable costs for such services.
  - 2. All legal fees involved in selling present home and purchasing new home.
  - 3. Moving costs. To include packing and unpacking, insurance, proper storage if necessary. Employer to pay the costs for moves.
  - 4. Real estate fees incurred in selling of family home. Should the employee sell the home personally, they would be entitled to 50% of actual real estate fees at the exclusive listing rate.
  - 5. Expenses of spouse for house or apartment hunting purposes. To include, babysitting services, car rental, etc.
  - 6. a) Lump sum amount for renters when required to break a lease to be paid by Employer.
    - b) Damage Deposit \$1,000.00 for one month's rent. To be used as an advance and to be returned within one year.
  - 7. Lump sum amount for miscellaneous expense, i.e. phone, light, cable, drapes, etc., covered by receipts up to a maximum of \$1,000.00.
  - 8. Cost of transporting one personal vehicle if necessary.

## 10.27 **LEAVE OF ABSENCE**:

- a) An employee who is appointed or elected to a full-time position with the U.S.W. or is elected to a full-time position with the Canadian Labour Congress, a Provincial Federation of Labour or a Labour Council, shall be granted leave of absence without pay and without loss of seniority for the term(s) of office.
- b) The Employer may, upon written request from the Union, grant leave of absence in writing without pay or loss of seniority to employees selected to perform specialized work on behalf of any body affiliated with the Union or the Employer subject to Article 10.28 "Loyalty".
- c) The Employer will grant leave of absence(s) without pay to an employee elected to serve as M.P., M.L.A., Municipal Council, Civic Council, Labour Council, Provincial Federation of Labour, Canadian Labour Congress. The Leave will cover the term(s) of office.

#### 10.28 **LOYALTY**:

- a) It is agreed that in the event of a potential conflict of interest between the United Food & Commercial Workers Union, Local 1518, and the United Steelworkers regarding jurisdiction or other matters of a similar nature, the employees' loyalty shall be to the United Food & Commercial Workers Union.
- b) It is understood and agreed that the first priority of the employee of U.F.C.W. Local 1518 is to dedicate their service to the overall continuing Welfare & Security of U.F.C.W. Local 1518 and its membership at the sole discretion and direction of the President of Local 1518 and further, to abide by the programs and policies of Local 1518 as presently established and/or any future policies of the Local, including the International Constitution and the Bylaws and Constitution of U.F.C.W. Local 1518 and as set out in this Agreement.

It is further understood and agreed that the Directors and Supervisors are under the sole direction of the President and Chief Executive Officer of U.F.C.W. Local 1518.

- 10.29 a) It is understood and agreed that in the event of U.F.C.W. Local 1518 merging with another Union or Local Union, the United Steelworkers will fully cooperate with the President of Local 1518 and the administration to expeditiously implement the terms of the merger document with regards to its intent and spirit as outlined to United Steelworkers by the President of Local 1518.
  - b) In the event that employees of the merged or merging Union or Local Union do not wish to be covered by the terms of this Collective Bargaining Agreement and/or do not wish to become members of United Steelworkers they shall not be required to do so.
  - c) United Steelworkers also agrees to observe the rights of any merged or merging local union or union employees in so far as they may be covered by another Collective Bargaining Agreement and/or Union membership, they are covered by the merger document or in the event they are non-union for the purposes of this Section.
  - d) Nevertheless, it is understood and agreed that all new hired employees ("employees" as defined in this Collective Bargaining Agreement) shall become members of United Steelworkers.
- 10.30 <u>DUTY TO ACCOMMODATE</u>: The Parties agree to comply with all Provincial legislation and regulations regarding Duty to Accommodate, and will follow the policy contained at Appendix "B".
- 10.31 <u>U.S.W. EDUCATION FUND</u>: The Employer will contribute to the **Union** three cents (\$0.03) per hour per bargaining unit employee for each hour worked for education and training of union members.

The money shall be made payable to the Local Union 2009 Education Fund:

United Steelworkers Local Union 2009 Education Fund #202-9292 – 200th Street Langley, B.C. V1M 3A6

and shall be remitted by the 15th of each month for the previous month and the Employer shall provide necessary information regarding amounts paid for each employee.

## 10.32 **STANDARD VEHICLE**

- 1) The **vehicle allowances** provided to UFCW Local 1518 Directors and Supervisors for servicing their territories **are**:
  - a) In town \$750.00 monthly, plus GST and PST-
  - b) Out of town \$750.00 monthly, plus GST and PST

All staff will have the opportunity to lease/purchase their vehicle directly. The vehicle allowance will be dictated by the vehicle configuration appropriate for each Director/Supervisor staff member's territory. **Upon request, the Employer will assess specific or non-standard vehicle configurations and assist with the leasing arrangements.** 

## 2) <u>Maintenance and Repair of Vehicles</u>

- a) The Employer will supply a card for the purpose of paying approved maintenance and fuel.
- b) The **Employer** will be responsible for routine maintenance (i.e. oil changes, air filters, wiper blades, **fluid top-ups**) while the vehicle continues to be used for union business.
- c) The **Employer** will also continue to reimburse for brake repairs and new tires not more than every 70,000 kilometers, **unless** needed or required for safety reasons.
- d) Metal studded tires or snow tires and chains shall be provided on request.
- e) The Employer will pay for replacement cost insurance on vehicles for the first four (4) years of a new model vehicle.
- f) If a staff member chooses to keep a vehicle beyond the period of forty-eight (48) months, they will assume the cost of all repairs.

- g) The Employer will be responsible for insurance coverage for the employee only. If an employee wishes to add additional drivers to the insurance, the employee will pay any increased premium costs.
- h) Employees will be reimbursed up to \$200 each calendar year to clean vehicles, payable under the Employer expense policy.

## 3) **FUEL COSTS**

- a) The Employer will review opportunities to install an electric charging station at the workplace in the event there are electric cars purchased in the future.
- b) Vehicles in town have a normal fuel consumption based on an average of 11 litres/100.

Vehicles out of town have a normal fuel consumption based on 11.5 litres/100.

<u>Note:</u> Either party can ask that the fuel consumptions above be reviewed after two years of the Agreement. If during these discussions the parties mutually agree to amend the amounts it must be in writing and signed by the parties.

- c) If the staff member chooses a vehicle that is the standard or comparable fuel economy, then no reimbursement will be necessary for the entire term of the lease/purchase for the forty-eight (48) months.
- d) When a staff member chooses a vehicle that has poorer fuel economy than the standard vehicle for their territory, then they will be required to reimburse the Local Union for those costs. The calculation for reimbursement will be arrived at by a calculation of the usage completed by the finance department. For example: 11 litres/100 divided by 15 = 15 litres/100 = 73.3%
  - i) Fuel consumption rates are based on the fuel consumption guide produced by Natural Resources Canada, Office of Energy Efficiency (OEC). Website is <a href="mailto:oee.nrcan.gc.ca/vehicles">oee.nrcan.gc.ca/vehicles</a>
  - ii) The deduction for fuel will be repaid to the Local Union by way of a weekly deduction from your pay cheque.
  - iii) This fuel calculation will be done each year using the OEC fuel costs estimate and the number of kilometers driven over the previous year.

- e) The weekly pay cheque deduction will begin the last week of March for the current vehicle. It will be adjusted upon delivery of a new vehicle, using the same per-litre fuel cost and the number of kilometers driven over the previous year.
- f) Current staff members at ratification of this agreement ending March 31, 2024, that are driving vehicles that have poorer fuel economy than that outlined above will not be impacted by this policy during the term of this agreement or until their current vehicle lease is completed:
  - i) The current vehicle lease is completed or
  - ii) 48 months have transpired from the date they originally purchased or leased that vehicle.
- 4) <u>UNION MADE VEHICLE:</u> Vehicles must be union made as set out in AFL-CIO annual union made vehicle list.

## 5) **PERSONAL USE REIMBURSEMENT**

The policy of reimbursing the **Employer** at \$10.00 per week for personal use of the vehicle will remain unchanged. This will be deducted from **the employee's** pay cheque each week.

a) It is agreed that employees shall have the personal use of the car. Gas used for personal use outside a radius of 500 miles from the office location will not be paid for by the Employer. Personal use of fuel will be reasonable and not excessive.

#### 6) MILEAGE ALLOWANCE

- a) Those employees in the bargaining unit who are not covered by the leased vehicle plan shall receive a mileage allowance equivalent to the current Canada Revenue Agency published rate per kilometre when using their own automobile for the Employer's business.
- b) Any future car allowance must be approved by the Union.
- 7) The Employer agrees to investigate the feasibility of a revised policy covering leased vehicle operators, e.g. spouses, dependents age twenty-five (25) and under. Should such a policy prove feasible it shall be discussed prior to its implementation.
- 8) Auto insurance deductible will be paid for in total by the Employer for any accident which occurred while a Union Representative was driving the car.

- 9) In the event of a lay-off, at the employee's option, the Employer shall purchase the vehicle back from the employee at fair market value.
- 10) After an employee has been off work continuously for six (6) months, the entitlements to fuel cease. At the end of the Weekly Indemnity period described in Article 14.06, if the employee does not return to work, they shall cease to receive any vehicle entitlement or benefit until such time as they return to work.
- 10.33 <u>CONVENTIONS</u>: All employees covered by this agreement shall have the opportunity to attend conventions. The Employer will advise employees via email of upcoming labour union conventions the Employer is participating in, and agree that up to 1/3 of the available delegate positions will be allocated to employees. Upon prior approval, the Employer may cover wages and some expenses to attend the conventions.

## 10.34 **OUT OF TOWN ASSIGNMENTS**

- a) When employees of the Local are on assignment remote from their normal community of residence, or where requested by the President, i.e. servicing, organizing, conferences or conventions, etc., employees shall be allowed separate and individual hotel rooms.
- b) The Employer may on occasion require staff to work on assignments outside British Columbia for periods of up to 3 weeks in duration. Such assignments shall be rotated equally amongst all members of the bargaining unit. Further, any stays longer can be approved by the President by mutual consent.
- c) If an employee is required on an out of province assignment for more than three (3) weeks, such employee(s) shall be allowed to return home every two (2) weeks.
- d) Employees shall be allowed to travel executive or business class, where these services are available, on flights over 2 ½ hours' duration.
- e) It is also understood that out of province assignments for educational purposes may be for longer duration and not subject to the above language.

#### 10.35 PAID GENDER BASED VIOLENCE LEAVE

As a commitment to finding tools to eliminate complications for those fleeing violent relationships, the Employer and Union signed a letter of understanding in January 2020 that provides Employees 10 days of paid domestic violence leave per year. Employees are entitled to the following:

- a) Paid leave when an employee is a victim of domestic violence, to a maximum of ten (10) days in a calendar year.
- b) The employee is entitled to up to an additional three (3) months of unpaid leave.

c) The employee may use accumulated sick leave then accumulated ATO's during any period of the unpaid leave.

#### **ARTICLE 11 - GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE**

- 11.01 A grievance procedure will be established and provide for the following:
  - **STEP 1:** The discussion of any question between the employee concerned and/or their steward, their supervisor(s) or the President of Local 1518 or their designate.
  - Step 2: Should the issue not be resolved satisfactorily at Step 1, the grievance shall be reduced to writing within five (5) working days. It shall then be discussed between the employee and their representative and the President of Local 1518 and/or their designate.

The Employer will answer the written grievance within five (5) working days. It shall then be discussed between the employee and their representative and the President of Local 1518 and/or their designate.

11.02 **DISCHARGE CASES:** If an employee believes that they have been unjustly discharged they may commence grievance procedure and it will be instituted at Step 2.

#### 11.03 DISCIPLINE

- a) The Employer shall only discipline an employee for just cause. Suspension days will run as consecutive working days.
- b) Any employee who is to be interviewed regarding disciplinary action shall be provided with the purpose of the interview and, where practicable, at least one business day notice of said interview.
- c) The interview shall take place in the presence of a Steward, Unit Chair or other Union designee.
- d) The employee and Union receive a copy in writing of any disciplinary action taken including, but not limited to, all written reprimands or notices involving suspension or discharge and the reasons for such action within one (1) business day of the taken action.
- 11.04 All discipline shall be removed from and shall not form part of an employee's work record one (1) year from the date the discipline was imposed.

#### **ARTICLE 12 - EXPEDITED ARBITRATION**

12.01 Expedited Arbitration may be proposed by the Union or the Employer within forty-five (45) days after the grievance and has been filed as per Article 11. Within seven (7) days of referral to Expedited Arbitration, either party may proceed to Expedited Arbitration subject to the following steps:

- 12.02 The parties must attempt to mediate the dispute within seven (7) days of being referred to Expedited Arbitration.
- 12.03 If mediation should fail, an Expedited Arbitration shall be held no less than ninety (90) days after referral to Expedited Arbitration.
- 12.04 The Union and Company agree that grievances referred to Expedited Arbitration will be adjudicated by a mutually agreed upon arbitrator.
- 12.05 A final and binding decision will be handed down within twenty (20) days of the Expedited Arbitration case being held.
- 12.06 Matters not referred to Expedited Arbitration may be referred by either party to the regular arbitration procedure as contained in Article 12 and all arbitrations referred under Article 12 must be held within ninety (90) days of referral to arbitration and a decision must be rendered within twenty (20) days of the arbitration being presented.

## **ARTICLE 13 – ARBITRATION**

- 13.01 The Parties agree that a mutually agreed upon arbitrator will act as Arbitrator. The decision of the Arbitrator shall be final and binding.
- 13.02 Each party will bear their own costs for the arbitration.
- 13.03 (a) The cost of the Arbitrator will be shared equally by the Parties.
  - (b) In the case of discharge which the Arbitrator has determined to have been for an improper cause, the Arbitrator shall order the reinstatement of the employee and shall award **them** full or part back pay.

#### **ARTICLE 14 - HEALTH AND WELFARE**

#### 14.01 **MEDICAL INSURANCE:**

**PREMIUMS:** Paid one hundred percent (100%) by Employer.

The Employer shall provide the standard medical plan supplied by M.S.P. (currently called the Employer Health Tax) to cover employees, spouse, or common-law spouse and dependent children. Dependent children are under age nineteen (19), or under age twenty-five (25) and in full-time attendance at a recognized educational institution.

Enrolment required. Coverage effective on the first (1st) day of the month following date of employment commences.

Employer to pay all costs of medical reports required by the Employer.

Employer to pay all costs of medical forms required by the Employer.

### 14.02 **EXTENDED HEALTH BENEFITS**:

**PREMIUMS:** Paid one hundred percent (100%) by Employer.

The Employer shall provide Pacific Blue Cross Extended Health Benefits.

Benefits include ambulance service, hospital co-insurance, special nursing, physiotherapy and chiropractic treatment (with limitations). In addition to the benefits outlined above, an extended individual financial limit of twenty-five thousand dollars (\$25,000.00) and a special rider up to \$4800.00 per year covering clinical psychologist (including registered clinical counselling) visits shall be provided.

Plan shall pay eighty percent (80%) of costs after initial twenty-five dollars (\$25.00) yearly deductible and shall cover employee, spouse, and dependent children up to the age of twenty-one (21) or under age twenty-five (25) if attending school.

Enrolment required. Coverage effective on the first (1<sup>st</sup>) day of the month following date employment commences.

#### 14.03 HEARING AID, EYEGLASS AND PRESCRIPTION PLAN:

**PREMIUMS:** Paid one hundred percent (100%) by Employer.

The Employer shall provide the following benefits:

- 1. Prepaid Drug Plan with no deductible.
- 2. Eyeglasses, lenses and frames to a maximum of five hundred and fifty dollars (\$550.00) for members, spouse and their dependants every two years.
- 3. The Employer will pay up to five hundred and fifty dollars (\$550.00) for permanent staff towards laser eye surgery.
- 4. The Employer agrees to pay the cost of employees to have an eye exam every two (2) years.
- 5. Hearing aids and repairs to a maximum of two thousand dollars (\$2,000.00) per person once every four (4) years. The entire amount can be used for one ear or split into two amounts of one thousand dollars (\$1,000.00) per ear.

The Employer shall provide coverage for employee, spouse and dependent children up to age nineteen (19) or under age twenty-five (25) if attending school.

Enrolment required. Coverage effective on the first (1st) day of the month following date employment commences.

## 14.04 **LIFE INSURANCE**:

**PREMIUMS:** The premium required to purchase coverage equal to three times salary shall be paid by Employer.

Eligible dependents are spouse or common-law spouse and unmarried children under the age of twenty-one (21) or older if in full-time attendance at an educational institution. Dependent life insurance policy (included) shall be five thousand dollars (\$5,000.00) for spouse and two thousand five hundred dollars (2,500.00) for each child.

Accidental Death and Dismemberment coverage is also included. In the event of accidental death, beneficiary will receive the principal amount under the A. D. and D. benefit, as well as under the Life Insurance Benefit. In other words, twice the insured amount. In the event of the loss of a limb or limbs, or the use of eyes, or a combination thereof, varying amounts are payable.

Upon retirement, a twenty-five thousand dollar (\$25,000.00) life insurance policy for the employee will be provided. Dependent life insurance for spouses reduced to two thousand five hundred dollars (\$2,500.00); dependent life insurance for children terminates, A. D. and D. coverage terminates.

In the event of termination of employment (other than retirement) the plan allows transfer to an individual policy within thirty (30) days of termination. No medical is required.

Enrolment required. Coverage effective first (1st) day of month following completion of three (3) months service.

#### 14.05 **SUPPLEMENTARY LIFE INSURANCE**:

**CARRIER:** Union Labour Life Insurance Co., Washington, D.C.

<u>PREMIUMS</u>: Paid one hundred percent (100%) by Employer through U.F.C.W. International Office.

Life Insurance policy of ten thousand (\$10,000.00) per employee. A. D. and D. benefit in the same amount. Coverage effective upon completion and acceptance of Enrolment Application.

#### 14.06 **WEEKLY INDEMNITY:**

**PREMIUMS:** Paid one hundred percent by Employer.

The Employer shall pay wages (80% of the employee's straight time rate, topped up with sick leave and other banked time off) for the first three (3) months of absence due to sickness or non-occupational accident, based on claim validation by Pacific Blue Cross (or their successor). Wages will be paid in full while the claim is being processed. If PBC denies the claim, the employ will have the right to appeal (2 levels of P.B.C. appeal), and if the appeals fail, the Employer and the Union will review. If there is no agreement between the

parties, the claim will go to an independent medical review. These benefits will commence on:

- The first day of hospitalization due to non-occupational accident or sickness, or
- 2. The fourth (4th) day of absence due to sickness or non-occupational accident with a fifty-two (52) week benefit period.

Where an employee confirms with their physician that they will be off for a longer period of time after day surgery, the employee's extended sick leave benefits will start on the day of the surgery even if there is no overnight stay at the hospital.

If there is a possibility the employee may be off for a period longer than three months, the employer will provide the employee with the necessary forms to apply to the insurance carrier for Weekly Indemnity benefits. Valid claims for Weekly Indemnity benefits shall be paid by the carrier commencing on the first day of the fourth month for a fifty-two (52) week benefit period. Wages will be paid in full while the claim is being processed by the carrier.

Weekly Indemnity payments shall be in the amount of eighty percent (80%) of an employee's straight time rate of pay.

In order to maintain pension and dental credits, etc., and to alleviate the financial worry of delay the Employer will keep the employee on payroll at one hundred percent (100%) of salary, if employee has sufficient hours accumulated in the sick leave bank: eighty percent (80%) to be reimbursed by insurance to Company, twenty percent (20%) to come out of employee sick bank. If the Insurance provider makes the cheque out to employee, that cheque must be endorsed and turned over to the Employer. If employee does not wish to use accumulated sick leave credits, they will be kept on payroll at eighty percent (80%) salary.

Time absent on Weekly Indemnity up to fifty-two (52) weeks will count toward accumulated holiday time, dental contributions and pension contributions. It will not count toward accumulation of A.T.O. The maximum Weekly Indemnity benefit period is fifty-two (52) weeks.

Employees cut off from W.C.B. benefits for any reason shall be entitled to the full fifty-two (52) week Weekly indemnity package.

Coverage shall be effective on the first (1st) day of the three (3) calendar months of employment.

#### 14.07 **Long Term Disability**:

**PREMIUMS:** Paid one hundred percent (100%) by Employer. The Employer shall provide Long-Term Disability benefits. Coverage commences after Weekly Indemnity is used up (i.e. 15 months after absence began). Coverage is equal to eighty percent (80%) of

employee's gross salary to a maximum of four thousand, five hundred dollars (\$4,500.00) per month.

Maximum benefit period is to age sixty-five (65) or entitlement to an unreduced pension.

14.08 **ACCUMULATED SICK LEAVE:** Accumulated sick leave will be one half day per month. Maximum accumulation is forty-seven (47) days.

All paid time off such a statutory holidays, vacations, sickness or accident, accumulated time off, etc., will be counted for the purposes of determining a full month of employment.

Sick leave must be used during the first three (3) days of absence due to sickness or non-occupational accident and may be used to make up the difference between Weekly Indemnity, or Workers' Compensation Benefits and 100% of salary.

It is agreed that accumulated sick leave information will be supplied to employees on a monthly basis.

Payments of any such sick time may be directed to an RRSP account at the employee's discretion.

14.09 SICK LEAVE PAY OUT: Employees who retire on pension or who voluntarily terminate their employment with the Employer, or who are permanently laid off from their employment with the Employer, shall upon termination or retirement be paid any sick leave accumulation they may have to their credit. Payments of any such sick time may be directed to an RRSP account at the employee's discretion.

Employees who have a sick leave credit balance in excess of twelve (12) days (eighty-four (84) hours), as of December 31<sup>st</sup>, 1987, and on each December 31<sup>st</sup> thereafter, shall receive a cash pay out to a maximum of six (6) unused sick leave days (forty-eight (48) hours), provided no employee's sick leave bank shall fall below twelve (12) days (ninety-six (96) hours), as a result of a cash pay out. Eligible employees shall receive a cash pay out prior to January 31<sup>st</sup> of each year.

- 14.10 **RETURN TO WORK AFTER ILLNESS:** After absence due to illness or injury, the employee must be returned to their job when capable of performing their duties.
- 14.11 Time spent on Paid Sick Leave, Weekly Indemnity, Long Term Disability, Workers' Compensation, Paid Holidays (Statutory Holidays), Vacations, Accumulated Time Off and Union Leave of Absence will be considered actual hours worked for all benefits in Article 14 Health and Welfare and Article 16 Pension.
- 14.12 **WORKERS' COMPENSATION SUPPLEMENT:** Where a regular full-time employee is qualified for Workers' Compensation, the Employer shall make up the difference between the Employee's regular straight time earnings at their regular hourly rate of pay and what they receive from the Workers' Compensation Board for the first three (3) scheduled working days of absence from the job. This is to be taken out of the sick leave credits of the employee if such credits exist. Otherwise, the Employer shall pay this amount.

Thereafter, the Employer shall make up the difference; between seventy-five percent (75%) of the Employee's straight time earnings based on their regular hourly rate of pay and what they receive from the Workers' Compensation Board for a period of up to thirteen (13) weeks from the first day of absence due to injury on the job.

In the event the Workers' Compensation Board challenges initial coverage or, after going on W.C.B. benefits the Workers' Compensation Board terminates such benefits because the Board has decided that the employee's disability is no longer related to the compensable injury, the Employer will pay the Workers' Compensation Board portion and an amount equal to the difference between seventy-five (75%) of the employee's straight time earnings and the Workers' Compensation Board portion for a period up to thirteen (13) weeks as an advance until the matter is decided. If the claim is later allowed by the Workers' Compensation Board, the Employer will be refunded that portion of the advance from the Board, or if not possible, from the employee. At the Employer's option the employee will pursue the appeals procedure under the Workers' Compensation Board.

14.13 **MAINTENANCE OF BENEFITS:** The Employer agrees to maintain the full cost of Health & Welfare premiums when an employee is absent on Weekly Indemnity, L.T.D., W.C.B., or on Sick Leave.

#### **ARTICLE 15 - DENTAL PLAN**

- 15.01 The Employer agrees to make contributions to the UFCW Health and Welfare Plan, UFCW Union Local 1518 Dental Division as determined by the Plan Administrators for the straight time hours of actual work by all Employees within the bargaining unit of the Collective Agreement. If it is determined by actuarial advice that different contributions are required to maintain benefits under the Plan, then the contributions shall be changed in amounts and on dates determined by such actuarial advice.
- 15.02 Paid vacations, statutory holidays, paid sick leave and absence while on Weekly Indemnity, Long-Term Disability, Workers' Compensation, Jury and Witness Duty, Bereavement Leave and A.T.O. shall be considered as actual time worked with regard to dental credits.
- 15.03 Contributions, along with a list of employees for whom they have been made and the amount of the weekly contributions for each employee, shall be forwarded by the Employer to the Trust Company or financial institution, and subsequently to the Dental Plan as established not later than twenty-one (21) days after the close of the Employer's four or five week accounting period. The Employer agrees to pay interest at the rate established by the Trustees on all contributions not remitted as stipulated herein.
- 15.04 It is agreed that in the event the Government of Canada or the Province of British Columbia provide a non-contributory dental care plan with similar benefits, the Employer's obligations to continue contributions to the Dental Plan shall cease. It is further understood, should a Government Plan create duplicate benefits, then these benefits shall be deleted form the Dental Plan and the Employer's contributions in respect to the cost of these benefits shall cease.

15.05 Orthodontic \_coverage shall be two thousand five hundred dollars (\$2,500.00) for each dependent adult and three thousand dollars (\$3,000.00) for each dependent child.

#### **ARTICLE 16 - PENSION PLAN**

- **16.01** Paid vacations, statutory holidays, paid sick leave and absence while on Weekly Indemnity, Long-Term Disability, Workers' Compensation, Jury and Witness Duty, Bereavement Leave and A.T.O. shall be considered as actual time worked with regard to pension credits.
- 16.02 The contributions shall be accompanied by a written statement showing the hours paid for each employee. In addition, the Employer agrees to pay interest on all such contributions which are not postmarked or deposited within thirty (30) days of the last day of the contribution period at the Bank of Canada Prime Rate as in effect on January 1<sup>st</sup> and July 1<sup>st</sup> of each year, from the last day of the period. Each contribution period shall comprise not less than four (4) nor more than five (5) weeks.

### 16.03 RETIREMENT BENEFITS -

- (1) An employee hired prior to date of ratification 2022, who retires on pension after at least ten years of service shall receive
  - (a) Benefit coverage, including spouse, with premiums to be paid one hundred percent (100%) by the Employer as follows:
    - Dental under Article 15;
    - Medical Insurance under Article 14.01 (if applicable)
    - Health & Welfare Benefits under Article 14.02 and 14.03
- (2) The Employer will convert the Life Insurance Policy to a twenty-five thousand dollar (\$25,000.00) to age 65 policy for the member and five thousand dollars (\$5,000.00) thereafter. Premium will be paid 100% by the Employer. Dependent life insurance for spouses reduced to two thousand five hundred dollars (\$2,500); dependent life insurance for children terminates, A.D.D. coverage terminates.
- (3) Accrued and Unused sick leave, A.T.O. and holidays will be paid out at current rate of pay.
- (4) Retirement Bonus of five (5) weeks' salary.
- (5) Cash-out for vehicle of \$44,500

- (6) For employees hired into the bargaining unit after date of ratification 2022, and did not qualify for other post-retirement benefits provided by the Employer, and who retire on pension after at least twelve (12) years of service are entitled to the following:
  - (i) The Employer will establish a Retiree Benefit Fund within 60 days of ratification 2022.
    - a. An initial \$5,000 contribution will be made by the Employer into the Retiree Benefit Fund for each new hire who passes probation and did not receive an initial contribution when first hired with the Employer.
    - b. When an employee reaches 5 years service, The Employer will make an additional contribution of \$5,000.00 and did not receive a 5 year contribution previously from the Employer.
    - c. When an employee reaches 10 years service, The Employer will make an additional contribution of \$40,000.00, and did not receive a 10 year contribution previously from the Employer.
    - d. The parties will meet to discuss benefit plans (extended health benefits and dental) and benefit allowance payments and will mutually agree how the Retiree Benefit Fund will be allocated to employees on retirement. This shall include assessing if employees hired after ratification 2022 can be added to the group retiree benefits plan without adverse impact on actuarial liability for retiree benefits on UFCW 1518. Any such additions to eligibility for the group retiree benefits plan will be by bargaining unit date of hire (i.e., first hired, first in).
  - (ii) The Employer will convert the Life Insurance Policy to a twenty-five thousand dollar (\$25,000.00) to age 65 policy for the member and five thousand dollars (\$5,000) thereafter. Premium will be paid 100% by the Employer. Dependent life insurance for spouses reduced to two thousand five hundred dollars (\$2,500); dependent life insurance for children terminates, A.D.D. coverage terminates.
  - (iii) Accrued and Unused sick leave, A.T.O. and holidays will be paid out at current rate of pay.
  - (iv) Retirement bonus of five (5) weeks' salary.

## **ARTICLE 17 - LEAVE OF ABSENCE WITHOUT PAY**

#### 17.01 LEAVE FOR PERSONAL REASONS:

- (a) An employee may be allowed a leave of absence without pay for up to **one (1) year** for personal reasons if:
  - (i) they request it from the Employer in writing, and
  - (ii) the leave does not interfere with the Employer's operations.
  - (iii) If the employee takes a job elsewhere during this leave of absence without joint approval of the Employer and the Union, they will be considered as having terminated their employment.

Conflict of Interest: It is understood that any employee while on leave of absence under this section is not permitted to take employment with any competitor. Competitor shall mean any other trade union or labour relations employment or a job with an employer that UFCW 1518 represents, and a conflict is apparent.

- (b) A leave of absence may be extended up to an additional thirty (30) calendar days upon mutual agreement of the Employer and the Union. The employee must request the extension in writing before the first leave period has terminated.
- (c) The Union will be notified of all leaves granted under this Section.
- (d) During the period of such leave the employee will be allowed to self-pay their pre-leave premiums for M.S.P., E.H.B., H.E.P. and Life Insurance in full, or not at all.

#### 17.02 **LEAVE TO ATTEND UNION GATHERINGS:**

- (a) Employees who have been elected or appointed by the Union to attend International, National or Local gatherings will be granted leave of absence for this purpose. Not more than **two (2) employees** may take such leave at one time and they must give the Employer ten (10) working days notice in writing. This notice must be confirmed by the Union. Leave will not exceed three (3) weeks, plus reasonable travel time.
- (b) Leave of absence will be granted on request to not more than two (2) employees who have been selected by the Union to attend collective bargaining sessions or emergency gatherings of the Union.

#### 17.03 **LEAVE FOR UNION BUSINESS:**

(a) The Employer will grant an employee leave of absence up to one (1) year to work for the local or International Union. The employee must request the leave of absence in writing and the President of U.F.C.W. Local 1518 may approve it.

- This leave may be extended for additional periods at the request of the Union. One month's notice in writing must be given prior to requesting this leave.
- (b) Not more than two (2) employees may be on leave under this Section at any one time and in no instance will two such leaves be granted in any six (6) month period.
- 17.04 **EDUCATION LEAVE:** Employees with four (4) years or more of continuous service with the Employer shall be entitled to an educational leave of absence for up to one (1) year without gain or loss of seniority as of the time the employee leaves without pay and upon approval of the President.

The following terms and conditions shall apply to such leaves:

- (a) One (1) employee at any one time shall be eligible for educational leave.
- (b) Application for leave shall be in writing.
- (c) Seniority shall be the determining factor in scheduling of leave.
- (d) Such leave will be granted on a one time only basis per employee.
- (e) The employee must be attending an accredited educational institution. The parties reserve the right to discuss and resolve the application of this in any particular case.
- (f) While on leave the employee shall not take employment with another Employer.
- (g) It is understood a person on leave could be offered minimal part-time work with the Employer without seniority or rights to such work, for the duration of the leave.
- (h) The period of time on leave will not count towards time worked for vacation entitlement.
- (i) One (1) month's notice of return to work must be given to the Employer unless a return date has been established prior to leaving.
- (j) During the period of such leave the employee will be allowed to self pay their preleave benefit status for M.S.P., E.H.B., H.E.P., and Life Insurance in advance by quarterly installments.
- 17.05 **GENERAL LEAVE:** Employees with five (5) or more years of continuous service with the Employer shall be entitled to a general leave of absence without pay for a maximum of three (3) years. Terms and conditions as set out in 17.04 shall apply. The employee will continue to maintain and accumulate seniority while on this leave. Employee may prepay benefits. This leave will not be taken in conjunction with any other leave of absence.

Employee(s) can set-up a self funded plan with the employer where they can have monies taken off their cheques to be put into a special account for an upcoming leave of absence. (Deferred Income Plan as follows:)

#### <u>Deferred Income Plan</u>

The parties agree to put into place a plan for all employees that will provide employees the option of deferring a portion of their income for a continuous three (3) year period and in the fourth year to take six (6) continuous months off, or three consecutive months for the purpose of education. The terms of the plant are set out as follows:

- (a) This Addendum applies to Union Representatives.
- (b) The purpose of this addendum is to vary and clarify certain terms of the Collective Agreement in order to introduce the Deferred Income Plan.
  - 1. No employee will receive benefits superior to those negotiated in the collective agreement for their category and status because of enrolment into the Deferred Income Plan.
  - 2. All health and other benefits, including, but not limited to: sick leave, vacation leave, uniform allowance, quarterly allowance, evening allowance, leased or purchased vehicle, and transportation allowance shall be suspended for the period that the employee is off work pursuant to this plan:
  - 3. Pursuant to this plan an employee(s) shall maintain all benefits but not limited to their Medical, Dental, Extended Health and Long Term Disability benefits for the period off work by reimbursing to the Employer the full cost of the premium of these benefits.
  - 4. Time off under this plan shall be credited to the employee's continuous service.
- (d) Employees wishing to enroll in the Deferred Income Plan will apply in writing in a minimum of two (2) months before enrolment stating the percentage of their wages they wish to have deferred and the percentage they wish to have paid.
- (e) For three (3) years, the employees who have been granted enrollment shall be paid a percentage of their wages set out above. At the end of three (3) years, eligible employees shall be paid their entitlement of the monies in the Deferred Income Plan fund in three (3) or six (6) equal installments.
- (f) While the fund shall be at no cost to the Employer, the Employer agrees that the plan can be administered and maintained in hours and that Employer will absorb the cost of its staff and overhead, but no bank charges or accounting fees incurred in providing this service. In the event that the administration of the plan is in dispute, the parties will hire a mutually agreed to outside consultant to

- maintain and administer the plan and the cost of such consultant will be borne by the plan.
- (g) The fund shall be administer jointly by the United Food & Commercial Workers Union Local 1518 and a representative from the United Steelworkers.
- (h) No more than one (1) Union Representative may enroll in the plan in any one calendar year or be off work in any one six (6) month period.
- (i) The interest earned by the monies in the plan shall accrue in the plan.
- (j) At the end of three years, employees who choose not to take three (3) or six (6) months off work shall be paid out their entitlement to the fund in on lump sum.
- (k) The plan shall be subject to approval from Revenue Canada and the International Pension Plan.
- (I) The parties shall have further discussion with a view to addressing additional concerns regarding the plan, which may arise from time to time.
  - Differences regarding the plan shall be resolved by Vince Ready in a process of Mediation/Arbitration.
- (m) Implementation of the Deferred Income Plan shall commence no later than\_\_\_\_\_
- 17.06 **Sabbatical:** Employees will be allowed eight (8) weeks off without pay (in addition to regular vacations) after accumulating ten (10) years seniority and an additional eight (8) weeks without pay for each additional ten (10) year period that they are employed. Such leave may be taken in conjunction with their annual vacation if they so desire.

#### **ARTICLE 18 – WAGES**

#### 18.01 **WAGE SCHEDULE:**

- (a) The job classifications and rates of pay listed in the attached Wage Schedule are agreed upon by both parties and are a part of this Collective Agreement.
- (b) The rates set forth in the attached Wage Schedule may not be used in any way for the purpose of reducing the wage rate(s) presently received by an employee(s).
- (c) The rates for the classifications set forth in this Agreement, and for any subsequent mutually agreed upon additions thereto, are the agreed upon rates for those classifications, and therefore no employee may perform work within classifications for a rate other than the rate set forth in this Agreement. The refusal of an employee to perform work contrary to the provisions of this Section, shall not constitute grounds for any reprimand or any form of disciplinary action, or dismissal by the Employer.

- (d) (i) It is understood and agreed that when new employees are hired by the President of Local 1518 and at the discretion of the President of Local 1518, such new employees may commence employment within any classification or at any rate of pay within the wage scale.
  - (ii) It is understood and agreed that the President of U.F.C.W. Local 1518 may at their discretion hire from time to time temporary or special representatives whom shall not be covered by this Agreement.
- 18.02 (a) NEW OR CHANGED JOB CLASSIFICATION: If any new job classifications are established, or if there is a significant change in the job content of any job classification(s) set forth in this Wage Schedule, or if any job classification(s) have been overlooked in this Wage Schedule, the Parties hereto are agreed to negotiate a rate for the job(s) in question.
  - (c) If the Parties are unable to reach agreement then the dispute will be settled through the Grievance and Arbitration procedures of this Agreement.
- 18.03 **CHEQUE ISSUE No DELAY:** The Employer will make provisions that there will be no undue delay in issuing cheques on pay day.
- 18.04 **STATEMENT OF EARNINGS:** The rate or rates of pay, hours of work, details for overtime hours and all necessary and pertinent information including A.T.O. and Sick Leave accumulated hours will be furnished to each employee on their pay statement so that the employee can clearly understand how their total pay was calculated. The Employer agrees to include, to the degree that can be accomplished, all pertinent payroll information such as A.T.O. credit, Sick Leave credit, etc.

The Employer agrees where there has been a mistake on an employee's itemized statement that the employee will get an agreed upon amended statement within fifteen (15) days of being notified.

- 18.05 **PAYMENT OF WAGES IRREGULAR:** Any employee being discharged, laid off, or leaving of their own accord will be paid all wages due to him as promptly as possible, or, in any event, within forty-eight (48) hours of the expiration of the next working day.
- 18.06 **EQUAL PAY FOR EQUAL WORK:** Where an employee has the necessary qualifications and has the ability to handle the work, there shall be no discrimination between men and women in the matter of appointments to vacant positions, nor salaries for such positions.

In this Agreement, any words importing the masculine gender include female persons and any words importing the female gender include male persons, singular or plural.

#### 18.07 MEALS & EXPENSES

- 1) Incorporated into wages in Appendix "A"
- 2) Where a **Director/Supervisor** is required to hold an evening meeting in their servicing area and as a result of time constraints or distance it is not reasonable

to expect they could eat at home the employee may charge the Local \$40.00 for meal expenses.

- 3) A late night arrival adjustment of \$450.00 quarterly will be paid to each member in recognition of late night work.
- 4) Meal Allowance
  - i) Out of Town \$15.00/\$25.00/\$40.00
  - ii) Out of Province \$80.00 per day
  - iii) Conventions \$80.00 per day in U.S. Funds if in U.S.A.
- 5) Effective April 1, 2018, a \$550.00 clothing allowance will be paid quarterly so that all staff will have appropriate business attire.
- 6) Employees shall receive a two hundred and fifty dollar (\$250) quarterly allowance to promote a healthy lifestyles.
- 7) After an employee has been off work continuously for six (6) months, the entitlements to **the allowances in this Article shall cease.**

## **ARTICLE 19 - JOB POSTING**

- 19.01 (a) **JOB OPENINGS:** Effective at date of Certification, all job openings in the bargaining unit, will be posted on the bulletin board for five (5) working days.
  - (b) From time to time there may occur openings within the labour movement, the International Union, other U.F.C.W. Locals or within Local 1518, which are temporary or provide opportunities which may be of interest to employees within the Local. The President of Local 1518 shall keep employee apprised of those jobs that come to **their** attention which may be appropriate for the present employees of Local 1518.
  - (c) Transfers to be offered by job posting. If no senior employee accepts the opening then the least senior employee may be assigned.
  - (d) Where two applicants on a job posting are relatively equal, seniority shall be used as the determining factor.
  - (e) Job postings will be subject to the grievance procedure.

## 19.02 **JOB APPLICATIONS (DELAYED):**

If an employee is not at work, for the following reasons, when a job is posted, they may apply for the job, if they do so within three (3) working days of their return to work.

- 1. vacation
- 2. authorized leave of absence not exceeding thirty (30) days

- 3. absence resulting from an accident or illness not exceeding thirty (30) days
- 4. absence on Workers' Compensation not exceeding thirty (30) days.
- 19.03 <u>SELECTION OF SUCCESSFUL APPLICANT</u>: Preference will be given to applications from the most senior employees in accordance with the principles established in Section 8.01 (a) of this Agreement.
- 19.04 **TRIAL PERIOD:** The successful applicant may be entitled to up to thirty (30) working days (or longer if agreed to by the parties) and not less than five (5) working days trial period.

## 19.05 **RETURN TO FORMER JOB:**

- (a) In the event that an employee within the bargaining unit is promoted in accordance with the provisions of this Article and within thirty (30) days (or longer if agreed to by the Parties of such promotion they are not performing efficiently, or the employee wishes to do so, they will revert to their immediate previous job within the bargaining unit, without loss of seniority.
- (b) If additional people are required, they will be drawn from the previous posting, provided, however, there are enough **qualified** applicants on the previous posting to fill the vacancy.
- 19.06 **Successful Applicant Notice**: The name of the successful applicant will be posted no later than five (5) days after the removal of the Job Posting notice.
  - All job postings not filled by successful applicants within thirty (30) days are considered void.
- 19.07 In the event that none of the applicants meet the requirements of the job in relation to Section 8.01 (a) of this Agreement or in accordance with Article 19.01 of this Agreement, the Employer may fill the vacancy from any available source.

#### **ARTICLE 20 - TECHNOLOGICAL CHANGE**

20.01 In the event that the Employer introduces a technological change which results in: the displacement of employees, the Employer will take reasonable steps to facilitate the training or retraining of such employees in order to maintain employment with the Employer. In doing so, the Employer will cooperate with provincial and federal agencies that have training and re-training resources available.

#### **ARTICLE 21 - SAVINGS CLAUSE**

21.01 Should any part of this Agreement or any provision herein contained be rendered or declared invalid by reason of any existing or subsequently enacted legislation or by any judgement or order of a court, tribunal or board of competent jurisdiction, such invalidation of such part or portion of this Agreement shall not invalidate the remaining portions hereof and such remaining portions shall continue in full force and effect.

21.02 In the event that any clause or section is held invalid or enforcement of or compliance with which has been restrained as above set forth, the Parties affected thereby shall enter into immediate collective bargaining negotiations upon the request of either Party for the purpose of implementing the requirements of any such order, judgement or legislation or for the purpose of arriving at a mutually satisfactory replacement for such Article or Section during the period of invalidity or restraint. If the Parties do not agree on a mutually satisfactory replacement, they shall submit the matter to arbitration.

#### **ARTICLE 22 - HUMANITY FUND**

21.01 Employees shall pay forty (40) cents per week times 52 weeks = \$20.80 per year. Employer will handle administration on an annual basis.

#### **ARTICLE 23 - JUSTICE & DIGNITY**

23.01 An employee whom the Employer suspends for longer than one (1) week without pay, or discharges or whom it contends has lost their seniority under Section 8 shall be retained at or returned to active work until any grievance contesting such suspension, discharge or break in service question if finally resolved through the grievance and arbitration procedure.

However, the employee may be removed from active work (without pay) until the resolution of the Grievance protesting the suspension, discharge or termination presents a danger to the safety of employees due to fighting, theft, or concerted refusal to perform their assigned work.

The above referenced to suspension, discharges and terminations are examples and are not to be all-inclusive but indicated how the various types of issues will be handled.

If a suspension or discharge should be revoked by the Employer sustained in arbitration proceedings, the Employer will reinstate the employee without loss of seniority or accredited service and they will be made whole. A lesser settlement may be agreed to by the employee, grievance committee and Local Union Administration.

#### **ARTICLE 24 - DURATION OF AGREEMENT**

- 24.01 This Agreement shall be for a period of **four (4)** years, from April 1, 20**20**, to and including March 31, 20**24**, and from year to year thereafter subject to the right of either Party to the Agreement within four (4) months immediately preceding the date of expiry of this Agreement, which is March 31, 20**24** or immediately preceding the 31<sup>st</sup> day of March in any year thereafter, by written notice to require the other Party to the Agreement to commence collective bargaining.
- 24.02 Should either Party give written notice to the other Party pursuant hereto, this Agreement shall thereafter continue in full force and effect until the Union shall give notice of strike or the Employer shall give notice of lockout or the Parties shall conclude a renewal or revision of this Agreement or a new Collective Agreement whichever shall first occur.

24.03 The operation of Section 50 (2 Columbia is hereby excluded.	2) & 50 (3) of the Labour Relations Code of British			
•	rties have hereto executed this Agreement this gust, 2022.			
UNITED FOOD & COMMERCIAL WORKERS, LOCAL 1518 UNITED STEELWORKERS ON BEHALF OF LOCAL UNION 2009 DIRECTORS & SUPERVISORS' UNIT				
Accepted by final offer	Accepted by final offer,			
August 5, 2022	August 5, 2022			

# <u>Wage increases and retroactivity is for current employees only at the time of ratification of this agreement</u>

1% April 1, 2020 to March 31, 2021

2% April 1, 2021 to June 30, 2022

3% July 1, 2022 to March 31, 2023

2% April 1, 2023 to March 31, 2024

## **Lump sum signing bonus of \$1,500.00**

## Supervisor

Wage Rates: Apr 1, 2020 - Mar 31, 2021		
Base rate		\$ 2,100.45
Increase	1.0%	\$ 21.00
		\$ 2,121.45
Wage Rates: Apr 1, 2021 - Jun 30, 2022		
Base rate		\$ 2,121.45
Increase	2.0%	\$ 42.43
		\$ 2,163.88
W P-t I-I-I 2000 M 24 2000		
Wage Rates: Jul 1, 2022 - Mar 31, 2023		
Base rate		\$ 2,163.88
Increase	3.0%	\$ 64.92
		\$ 2,228.80
Wage Rates: Apr 1, 2023 - Mar 31, 2024		
Base rate		\$ 2,228.80
Increase	2.0%	\$ 44.58
		\$ 2,273.38

## APPENDIX B - DUTY TO ACCOMMODATE PROTOCOL (NEW)

#### PROCESS:

Establish an Accommodation Committee (must represent both Union and Management).

Establish a process for individuals who require a bona fide accommodation:

#### STEPS:

Step One: Employee to raise the issue directly with the Employer.

Step Two: Where the accommodation is not resolved between the Employee and

Employer, the Employee to notify the Employer and Union

Representative(s) on the Accommodation Committee

Step Three: Provides description of limitations and work capacity (must complete

Physical Assessment/Work Modification Form), a copy of which is reviewed by both Employer and Worker Representatives on

**Accommodation Committee.** 

Step Four: Accommodation Committee after reviewing above information implements

a decision.

#### HIERARCHY OF ACCOMMODATIONS

1. Modify existing work/work station/work duties;

- 2. Bundle work tasks from various office duties;
- 3. Post into other jobs that may become available;
- 4. "Switch" jobs (voluntary vacancy).
- 5. Creation of a temporary vacancy to be filled by worker requiring accommodation for up to 60 days (extendable upon mutual agreement between Union and Employer). An accommodated worker would get the position, but would still be scheduled by seniority and not gain seniority rights over other bargaining unit employees for claim to hours, layoff, etc.
- 6. Preserve rights of others in Bargaining Unit (no "bumps" unless by mutual agreement). (See Point V (3)).

#### PRINCIPLES:

- 1. Confidentiality and privacy;
  - only requires minimal medical information to properly place.
  - restrict access to those on the Accommodation Committee Group.

2. Employee participation in the Duty to Accommodate process is required for an accommodation to be made.

#### **DISPUTE RESOLUTION:**

- 1. In the event of an irresolvable case, it will be submitted to the grievance procedure.
- 2. Where case remains irresolvable, UFCW and USW to agree to refer to (John Hall) for arbitration with costs split between Employer and Union.

#### **DUTY TO ACCOMMODATE PROTOCOL POLICY**

#### 1) PURPOSE OF POLICY

- a) The British Columbia Human Rights Code protects persons from discrimination.
- b) Employees are entitled to reasonable accommodation in the workplace to the point of undue hardship.
- c) The Employer and the Union wish to establish a protocol for employees requiring a bona fide workplace accommodation.

## 2) JOINT ACCOMMODATION COMMITTEE

- a) The parties agreed to establish a joint accommodation committee (the "Accommodation Committee").
- b) The Accommodation Committee will be comprised of one (1) standing representative from each of the Employer and the Union. Either party may add other representatives from time to time. Representatives should be familiar with the collective agreement, and have experience in the area of return to work and accommodation.
- c) The Accommodation Committee will meet as regularly as necessary, and at the request of either party, to carry out its responsibilities.
- d) The Accommodation Committee's responsibilities will include:
  - i) keeping a record of employees who do or may require accommodation.
  - ii) assessing medical information provided by employees to determine whether there is a need for accommodation.
  - iii) requesting additional information concerning the restrictions and limitations of employees where necessary, and specifying the nature of such information:

- iv) arranging for accommodations in accordance with the Protocol Policy;
- v) communicating specific accommodation arrangements to all person who may be affected, including co-workers;
- vi) keeping a record of employees accommodated, together with a summary of the arrangements;
- vii) reviewing prior accommodation arrangements where there has been a change in circumstances;
- viii) ensuring accommodation practices remain consistent with the law; and
- ix) carrying out any other responsibilities assigned by mutual agreement of the parties.
- e) Either party may refer a matter to the Accommodation Committee for resolution. If the other party opposes the referral, it must demonstrate that the matter is not appropriate for consideration by the Committee.
- f) The Accommodation Committee has authority to make and implement decisions on matters described in paragraph 4 above when the representatives of both parties agree.

#### 3) OBTAINING AND REVIEWING MEDICAL INFORMATION

#### A. Principles

- i) Medical information is confidential and should be limited to those facts relevant to determining the restrictions and limitations of the employee seeking accommodation. However, the parties agree that employees must produce medical information that is reasonably necessary to justify the need for an accommodation in order to be accommodated. Medical information should be directed to those facts relevant to determining an employee's restrictions and limitations.
- ii) Although medical information is supplied on a voluntary basis, employees seeking accommodation will endeavor to supply such information and respond to reasonable requests for additional information.
- iii) All accommodation files to be in a separate confidential cabinet assessable only to Accommodation Committee. The affected member has a right to see their file.
- iv) Individual records will be retained for the duration of employment and a summary of records maintained will be kept indefinitely.

#### b) Reviewing Medical Information

- i) The Accommodation Committee may request medical information regarding an employee's restrictions and limitations where there are reasonable grounds for the request. Reasonable grounds may include a prior request by the employee for accommodation, an inquiry by the Workers' Compensation Board or other identified need for accommodation, and indications the employee's medical condition has changed.
- ii) Requests for medical information will be made using the "Physical Assessment/Work Modification Form" and "Medical Sharing Release Form" developed by the Accommodation Committee (copies of both are attached to this Protocol Policy, and are subject to amendment by the Accommodation Committee).
- iii) Medical information may be obtained from the Workers' Compensation Board once an employee has completed the "Medical Sharing Release Form".

#### c) Obtaining Additional Medical Information

- i) Employees have a duty to assist in finding an appropriate accommodation by obtaining and providing sufficient medial information to verify the need for accommodation and to identify specific accommodation requirements.
- ii) Where the Employer or the Union believes that medical information provided by an employee is insufficient, or that a Specialist's opinion is required, the matter will be referred to the Accommodation Committee for resolution. Any referral to a Specialist will be made by the employee's own doctor.
- iii) Other means of obtaining additional information concerning an employee's capabilities and limitations for purposes of arranging an accommodation may include:
  - A) a work trial;
  - B) a job demands analysis by the WCVB or work assessment;
  - C) a functional assessment (where the level of restriction or limitation is inconsistent with existing medial information) and:
  - D) the involvement of Workers' Compensation Board rehabilitation personnel or other rehabilitation specialists involved in treatment, such as physiotherapist, chiropractor, etc.

## 4) <u>ACCOMMODATING EMPLOYEES</u>

#### a) Principles

- i) Discrimination in the workplace is everyone's business.
- ii) The search for accommodations is a multi-party inquiry. In this unionized workplace it involves the Employer, the Union and affected employees:
  - A. the initial responsibility to search for an accommodation rests with the Employer. It must initiate the process and take reasonable steps towards finding a reasonable accommodation:
  - B. the Union (the members of the bargaining unit and the representative body) shares responsibility with the Employer to cooperate in seeking to accommodate employees. The Union's duty differs from that of the Employer in that its representative nature must be considered; and
  - C. employees have a duty to assist in arranging an appropriate accommodation, and have a responsibility to:
- iii) obtain and provide sufficient medial information that is reasonably necessary to verify the need for accommodation and to identify specific accommodation requirements; and
- iv) facilitate the implementation of a reasonable accommodation.
- v) The extent of the duty to accommodate depends on the particular circumstances of each case. Generally, the accommodation options set out in this part of the Protocol Policy will be considered in order to find the most reasonable accommodation to the point of undue hardship.
- vi) The parties agree to minimize disruption in the workplace and interference with collective agreement rights resulting from accommodations.

#### b) Modify Existing Job

- i) Modifications to an employee's existing job in order to accommodate a disability may include:
  - A) changing work organization demands or methods;
  - B) providing assistive devices:

- C) physically changing the work area or equipment; and
- D) providing additional assistance.

#### c) Change in Job Function

- i) Where a reasonable accommodation cannot be arranged by modifying an employee's existing job, the following changes to the employee's job function will be considered:
  - A) bundling of tasks within the employee's position;
  - B) bundling of tasks outside the employee's position.

#### d) Vacancies

New positions suitable for accommodations, and not within the Collective Agreement posting requirements, may be reserved by the Committee for accommodations.

- i) Vacancies may be created for accommodations as follows:
  - A) an employee may voluntarily relinquish a position suitable for accommodation and be transferred to another position in the same or a different classification, provided there is no reduction of hours for junior employees; or loss of hours for the voluntarily transferred employee;
  - B) the vacancy created by the accommodated employee shall be posted and filled in accordance with the Collective Bargaining Agreement, bearing in mind that the transferred employee who relinquishes their position must not lose hours;
  - C) the created vacancy must be filled by an accommodated employee as soon as possible or transferred employee returns to position; and
  - D) employees requiring accommodation will be considered for the created vacancy on the basis of seniority with the Employer;
  - E) when the accommodation is no longer required, employees will revert to their original positions.

## e) <u>Movement Outside Classification (Local 2009)</u>

Employees may be placed in a different classification (either in the same or a different bargaining unit) in order to be accommodated. They will retain their seniority, and will receive the rate and benefits which is most comparable to their current rate, for the position in which they are accommodated.

#### f) Movement Outside Local 2009

Employees may be transferred to a position outside Local 2009 jurisdiction in order to be accommodated. The Union would maintain the right to represent the accommodated worker with respect to the accommodation.

## g) General Considerations

The Employer is not required to create new or non-productive positions. However, undue hardship contemplates that employees entitled to accommodation may be less efficient, and there may be some financial consequence or other hardship to the Employer.

#### 5) TEMPORARY ACCOMMODATION

- a) Where employees are absent due to lengthy disability, maternity or other formal leave, their positions may be filled on a temporary basis by employees requiring accommodation.
- b) Creation of a temporary vacancy to be filled by worker requiring accommodation for up to 60 days (extendable upon mutual agreement between Union and Employer). Employees filling a position due to accommodation requirements would still be scheduled hours according to their seniority ranking and be subject to all provisions of the collective agreement according to their seniority.

Explanation: An accommodated worker would get the position, but would still be scheduled by seniority and not gain seniority rights over other bargaining unit employees for claim to hours, layoff, etc.

c) Employees may be reassigned to different jobs within their classification for up to 60 days in order to temporarily accommodate employees who are not eligible for wage loss benefits while a long-term accommodation is arranged, provided there is not loss of hours, wages or benefits.

Upon mutual agreement of the Employer and the Union there may be an extension to the 60 days.

Explanation: This is a last resort only if all other methods of accommodation (work modification, bundling of tasks, creation of temporary vacancy and would be subject to all rules and provisions regarding "undue hardship". Seniority rights in terms of hours of work and layoff would apply to worker being accommodated and worker being temporarily reassigned).

## 6) RE-EVALUATION AND REVIEW

The Accommodation Committee will annually review specific accommodation arrangements to determine whether they remain appropriate.

The Accommodation Committee will also review general accommodation practices (including evolving legal responsibilities), and may make recommendations for amendments to this Protocol Policy.

## 7) <u>DISPUTE RESOLUTION</u>

- a) The Accommodation Committee may engage outside consultants with specific expertise where there is a dispute over medical information, or where a dispute concerns modifications to occupational requirements, standards, rules or processes.
- b) Any disagreements regarding an accommodation may be submitted to the grievance procedure.
- c) The Accommodation Committee must investigate and attempt to resolve disputes before they are submitted to the Arbitration.
- d) Where case remains irresolvable, UFCW and USW to agree to refer to (John Hall) for arbitration with costs split between Employer and Union.

#### 8) COMMUNICATION AND EDUCATION

- a) The Accommodation Committee may by mutual agreement:
  - i) develop and implement workplace programs designed to ensure a broad understanding and acceptance of the accommodation process; and
  - ii) establish and monitor communication and education.
- b) Representatives on the Accommodation Committee will ensure that accommodation arrangements and other decisions are properly communicated "along the line" prior to implementation to all persons who may be affected.

#### APPENDIX C - RESPECTFUL WORKPLACE (NEW)

## 1.0 Respectful Workplace Overview

The Employer and the Union are committed to the right of all workers to enjoy a respectful workplace and to be treated with civility, dignity and respect at work.

The Employer will not tolerate or condone behaviour from any Employee or Manager that undermines the dignity and self-esteem of any worker, or which creates an intimidating, hostile or offensive work environment. As members of the labour movement, the Employer and Union believes they must speak out against harassment, bullying and discrimination and stand together to protect human rights and dignity at work.

This includes refraining from making any frivolous, vexatious, malicious, or bad faith allegation(s) or complaint(s). The integrity of the process outlined in this article must be protected by all workers and, therefore, must not be utilized for any purpose other than addressing bullying, harassment, and/or discrimination. The onus is on the Employer to demonstrate a complaint was frivolous, vexatious, malicious, or bad faith.

The right to a Respectful Workplace applies to all that are working in the service of the Employer and therefore will govern all dealings between bargaining unit employees and non-bargaining unit employees, and also dealings with all others encountered in the workplace, including members of UFCW 1518 (the Employer) and any visitors whether at the Employer's offices, an employer or member worksite, or by telephone, email or text message.

## 2.0 Respectful Workplace Principles

#### a) Workers must:

- not bully, harass and/or discriminate against others;
- not make frivolous, vexatious, malicious or bad faith complaints or allegations;
- address observed or experienced bullying, harassment and/or discrimination and report it where appropriate;
- cooperate with any investigation including respecting confidentiality obligations; and
- comply with the Employer's policies and procedures on bullying, harassment and discrimination

#### 3.0 Workers' Rights

#### a) Workers have the right to:

- work in an environment that is free from bullying, harassment and discrimination;
- file a complaint when the environment is not free from bullying, harassment and discrimination, without fear of embarrassment or

reprisal;

- be informed of complaints made against them;
- be kept informed throughout the process and of remedial action taken; and
- confidentiality to the degree possible under the circumstances.

## b) Workers have a responsibility to:

- ensure all persons are treated with dignity and respect, free from bullying, harassment, and discrimination;
- provide an environment that respects and promotes human rights and personal dignity; and,
- fulfill the obligations of employers under the British Columbia Workers Compensation Act, the Human Rights Code, and other like legislation to prevent bullying and harassment in the workplace.

## 4.0 <u>Definitions of "Bullying and Harassment and Discrimination"</u>

- a) Bullying and Harassment includes:
  - i) any inappropriate conduct or comment by a person towards a Worker that the person knew or reasonably ought to have known would cause that Worker to be humiliated or intimidated; but
  - ii) excludes any reasonable action taken by an employer or supervisor relating to the management and direction of Workers or the place of employment.

## b) **Bullying and Harassment "does not" include:**

- i) expressing differences of opinion, in a respectful manner;
- ii) the Employer offering constructive feedback, guidance or advice about work-related behaviour, managing a Worker's performance, taking disciplinary actions, assigning work or job duties, managing workload, setting deadlines, or
- iii) a Worker making a legitimate complaint about another Worker's conduct through established procedures.

## c) Forms of harassment, including but not limited to:

- Verbal harassment
- Physical harassment
- Sexual harassment, which is unwelcome conduct of a sexual nature that detrimentally affects the work environment or leads to negative job-related consequences.
- Visual Harassment, and
- Personal harassment.

- d) Discrimination" means any adverse treatment at work that is based on personal characteristics including, but not limited to, race, colour, ancestry, place of origin, political belief, religion, marital status, family status, physical or mental disability, sex, sexual orientation, gender identity or expression, or age of that person or because the Worker has been convicted of a criminal or summary conviction offence that is unrelated to the employment or to the intended employment of the Worker.
- e) Bullying, harassment and discrimination do not have to be intentional to be against the law or against this Policy. For instance, even well-intended jokes or compliments can be humiliating or intimidating to the recipient. A good rule is to put yourself in the other person's shoes and carefully avoid comments or actions that have any potential for being misinterpreted.

## 5.0 <u>Prevention</u>

Prevention is always the first line of defense against bullying, harassment and discrimination. Everyone must work to ensure a positive work environment and the highest level of care to respecting all those they encounter at work.

Personal issues can negatively affect the work environment and be factors in incidents of bullying, harassment and discrimination. All Workers are asked to keep this in mind, and seek help for personal issues as needed.

#### 6.0 Steps in Response to Bullying, Harassment and/or Discrimination

#### a) Informal Discussion Between Parties

- i) Where a Worker directly experiences what is believed to be bullying, harassment and/or discrimination, the first step is for the Worker to have an informal discussion directly with the person who engaged in the alleged behaviour. This step is not required where an informal discussion may escalate matters or where it is reasonable to conclude immediate involvement of the Employer.
- ii) Informal discussions must take place as soon as possible after the incident(s) giving rise to the concern. Discussions must involve only the person alleging the disrespectful conduct (the "Complainant") and the person(s) who engaged in the alleged disrespectful conduct (the "Respondent"). All parties to the discussion must agree to keep the discussion confidential; however, any harassing, bullying or discriminatory conduct that occurs during
- iii) the informal discussion is not protected by confidentiality. The Complainant must clearly inform the person that their actions are inappropriate, and that the offensive behaviour should stop.
- iv) Where the Complainant concludes the informal discussion

appropriately remedied the situation, the matter will be considered resolved.

v) The Complainant is required to inform the other party or parties to the informal discussion, within five (5) days of the discussion, whether the matter has been resolved. Where the matter remains unresolved, and the Complainant wishes to submit a formal complaint, the Complainant must submit the formal complaint within five (5) days of the Complainant informing the other party or parties that the matter remains unresolved.

## b) <u>Addressing and Reporting Bullying, Harassment and/or Discrimination</u> <u>Experienced by a Co-Worker</u>

- i) Any work-leader (i.e. manager and/or bargaining unit and nonbargaining unit supervisor) who observes bullying, harassment or discrimination should take immediate action to attempt to stop the disrespectful behaviour.
- ii) Any other Worker who becomes aware of bullying, harassment or discrimination against a co- Worker is asked to promptly notify the Employer.

## c) <u>Making a Formal Complaint</u>

- i) If a Worker believes they have directly experienced bullying, harassment or discrimination, and an informal discussion did not remedy the situation, they will may make a formal complaint.
- ii) Formal Complaints must be made as soon as possible after experiencing an incident in order to allow the incident to be effectively investigated and addressed. For this reason, formal complaints are required to be submitted by a Complainant within five (5) days of the Complainant informing the other party or parties that a matter remains unresolved.
- iii) The foregoing does not preclude a Worker who experiences bullying, harassment or discipline from making a formal complaint without engaging in an informal discussion.
- iv) A formal complaint may be submitted either verbally or in writing to the Employer and should provide as much information as possible in a complaint, including the names of people involved, witnesses, where the events occurred, when they occurred, and what behaviour and/or words led to the complaint. Any supporting documents, such as emails, handwritten notes, or photographs should also be submitted.

#### d) Response by the Employer to a Formal Complaint

- i) Upon receiving a formal complaint, The Employer will make a determination about appropriate next steps.
- ii) This may include informal non-disciplinary discussions, mediation where agreed-to by all involved parties, and/or a formal investigation conducted either internally or by an external investigator.
- iii) In all cases, once a formal complaint has been made, bargaining unit members involved in investigations or mediation are entitled to union representation.
- iv) Where the respondent in an investigation is a bargaining unit member, the Union will be involved in the selection of the investigator.

## e) <u>Investigation</u>

- i) Many formal complaints may be appropriately concluded or resolved after informal non- disciplinary discussion or mediation. In such cases, a formal investigation will not occur. However, a report or summary of the discussion may be issued to the Complainant and Respondent where it is deemed helpful.
- ii) The Employer will conduct investigations and may determine for complex or sensitive situations to hire an external investigator.
- iii) Investigations will:
  - be undertaken promptly and diligently, and be as thorough as necessary, given the circumstances;
  - be fair and impartial, providing both the Complainant and Respondent equal treatment in evaluating the allegations;
  - be sensitive to the interests of all parties involved, and maintain confidentiality to the degree possible in the circumstances:
  - allow all those interviewed to have a steward or union representative of their choice present during the interview;
  - be focused on finding facts and evidence, including interviews of the Complainant, Respondent, and any witnesses; and,
  - incorporate, where appropriate, any need or request from the Complainant or Respondent for assistance during the investigation process.
- iv) Investigations will include interviews with the Complainant, the Respondent, and may include witnesses. If the Complainant and the Respondent agree on what happened, then the Employer will not

investigate any further, and will determine if any corrective action may be necessary.

v) The investigator will also review any evidence, such as emails, handwritten notes, photographs.

#### f) Roles and responsibilities

The Employer is responsible for ensuring workplace investigation procedures are followed. Workers are expected to cooperate with investigations and provide any details of incidents they have experienced or witnessed.

#### g) Follow-up

- i) The Respondent and the Complainant will be advised of the investigation findings.
- ii) Following an investigation, the Employer may review and revise workplace procedures to prevent any future bullying and harassment incidents in the workplace.

## h) Record-keeping requirements

- i) Workers will keep written accounts of incidents to submit with formal complaints.
- ii) The Employer will keep a written record of investigations, including the findings.

#### 7.0 Consequences

#### a) Retaliation

Any form of retaliation or discrimination against a Worker because that person initiated a complaint or because that person acted, in good faith, as a witness or participated in a complaint resolution process will be considered a violation of this Policy. Retaliation may result in discipline up to and including termination of employment for just cause.

If a Worker believes that they have been subjected to retaliation, that person may submit a written complaint to the Employer who will review the complaint to ensure the allegation is adequately addressed.

#### b) Consequences of Disrespectful Behaviour

If it is found a Worker engaged in bullying, harassment or discrimination, whether intentional or not, appropriate disciplinary action, up to an including dismissal for just cause, will be taken against that Worker. Repeated instances of disrespectful behaviour will be considered as one of the factors in determining the appropriate level of disciplinary action.

## c) <u>Frivolous, Vexatious, Malicious or Bad Faith Allegations or Complaints</u>

- i) This Article must not be utilized for any purpose other than addressing bullying, harassment, and/or discrimination.
- ii) Complaints of bullying, harassment and discrimination are serious matters. Workers who are found to have made Frivolous, Vexatious, Malicious or Bad Faith allegation or complaint, whether formal or informal, of bullying, harassment or discrimination may be subject to disciplinary action, up to and including dismissal for just cause.
- iii) In any case where a bargaining unit member is the subject of disciplinary action for reason outlined above, the Union will be provided with the report, including findings on which the disciplinary action is based.

## 8.0 **Grievance Procedure**

The Union shall have the right to initiate and to process a grievance on behalf of any bargaining unit employee(s) who allege(s) personal bullying and harassment has occurred in violation of this Article. Such grievance(s) shall be initiated at Stage II of the grievance procedure as described in Article 11, 12 of this Agreement in which case the provisions of that Article shall apply.

#### **LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING #1**

Between: UNITED FOOD & COMMERCIAL WORKERS UNION, LOCAL 1518

(Hereinafter referred to as the "EMPLOYER")

And: UNITED STEELWORKERS

ON BEHALF OF LOCAL UNION 2009 DIRECTORS' & SUPERVISORS' UNIT

(Hereinafter referred to as the "UNION")

## TEMPORARY OR RELIEF PERSONNEL

It is understood that such temporary personnel should not exceed six months in duration and further, should this person be offered a permanent position they shall retain their seniority to date of first hire as temporary person.

Between: UNITED FOOD & COMMERCIAL WORKERS UNION, LOCAL 1518

(Hereinafter referred to as the "EMPLOYER")

And: UNITED STEELWORKERS

ON BEHALF OF LOCAL UNION 2009 DIRECTORS & SUPERVISORS' UNIT

(Hereinafter referred to as the "UNION")

1. During the life of this Collective Agreement there will be no changes to the extended health benefits, hearing aid, eyeglass and prescriptions under the Active Member Plan effective on November 1, 2021 without mutual agreement.

- 2. Any current employee (at ratification) who retires after ratification 2022 will be covered by the Retiree Member Plan in effect November 1, 2021. There will be no changes to this Retiree Member Plan for any current employee who retires after ratification 2022 for the life of this Collective Agreement without mutual agreement.
- 3. The Employer also agree to increase the following to the plans outline din points #1 and #2 above for current employees/current employees who retire.
  - BlueRx Formulary with no annual or lifetime limits
  - Physiotherapy \$3,500.00 cap
  - Massage Therapy RMT \$3,500.00 cap

No later than forty-five (45) days after ratification of this agreement.

4. The Parties will meet annually, to review the cost and provision of Health & Welfare Benefits and may agree to make changes to benefits levels, by mutual agreement, that are justified and sustainable based upon renewal cost proposals of the providers and other existing actuarial evidence.

## **LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING #3 – Rx Drug Formulary (NEW)**

Between: UNITED FOOD & COMMERCIAL WORKERS UNION, LOCAL 1518

(Hereinafter referred to as the "EMPLOYER")

And: UNITED STEELWORKERS

ON BEHALF OF LOCAL UNION 2009 DIRECTORS & SUPERVISORS' UNIT

(Hereinafter referred to as the "UNION")

Any employee and/or their eligible plan members who have not been able to resolve continuation of the specific Rx drug(s) after receiving notice in October 2021 from PBC, can stay on their existing Rx rugs for the life of this agreement or until a suitable alternative, as determined by the employee's medical practitioner becomes available, whichever is sooner.

#### **LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING #4 – Director Roles and Responsibilities (NEW)**

Between: UNITED FOOD & COMMERCIAL WORKERS UNION, LOCAL 1518

(Hereinafter referred to as the "EMPLOYER")

And: UNITED STEELWORKERS

ON BEHALF OF LOCAL UNION 2009 DIRECTORS & SUPERVISORS' UNIT

(Hereinafter referred to as the "UNION")

The Employer and the Union do hereby expressly and mutually agree that Director duties under the Collective Agreement (CBA) shall be as follows:

- (1) May perform duties largely similar to those whose work they direct;
- (2) May perform duties related to but at a higher level than the work of the subordinates whom they direct;
- (3) Assists or relieves the excluded management staff with detailed supervision of routine aspects of work by ensuring the assigned employees are following their mandate letters and performing their work within the representation and member engagement practices and policies of the Employer including;
  - Scheduling and assigning work to employees within the area of responsibility of the Director and approving their time off work including, but not limited to, ATO days, taking into account the CBA as well as policies, practices and operational requirements of the Employer;
  - b. Ensuring that all work is assigned and completed;
  - c. Transmitting the instructions of the excluded management staff to other employees;
  - d. Performing a quality control function in respect of subordinates and when requested by the Employer, writing performance assessments of employees within the area of responsibility of the Director
  - e. Warning subordinates of unacceptable performance (quality or quantity of work) or conduct (observance of hours, appearance, etc.). (Should a subordinate's performance or conduct fail to improve as a result of such warning then the Director will bring the matter to the attention of the Employer who will take suitable disciplinary action.);
  - f. Providing on-the-job detailed training to employees with respect to performance of their job duties as outline in their mandate letters and identified as needed training and areas of support;
  - g. Managing within the budget assigned to the area of responsibility and adhering to the financial policies and practices of the Employer, including the Employer's Purchasing and Procurement policy;

(4) It is understood that subordinates reporting to the Director will normally be Union Representative unit but may on occasion be from the Admin unit;			
---	--	--	--

(5)	This Letter of Understanding may be changed at any time by the written mutua
	agreement of the Employer and the Union.

Α	Н	
A.T.O. Payout7	Hearing Aid	25
Accumulated Paid Time Off (A.T.O.)6	Holiday Exchange	
Active Member Plan58	Hours Of Work	
Additional Vehicle Drivers20	Humanity Fund	
Arbitration24	Trainianity Tariani	
7 (10) (10) (10) (10) (10) (10) (10) (10)	1	
В	Laterena Eng	_
Demonistra Assess	Initiation Fee	
Bargaining Agency4	Intimidation	15
Bereavement Pay12	1	
Bulletin Board12	J	
С	Job Postings	37
C	Joint Labour Management (JLM)	11
Contract Employees4	Jury Duty	13
Conventions22	Justice & Dignity	39
D	L	
Deferred Income Plan34	Leave For Union Business	32
Delayed Job Applications37	Leave Of Absence	
Dental Plan29	Leave To Attend Union Gatherings	
Director Roles And Responsibilities60	Life Insurance	
Discharge Grievances23	Long Term Disability	
Discipline23	Loyalty	
Donations16	,,,	
Dues5	M	
Duration39	Managarat Dighta	_
Duty To Accommodate42	Management Rights	
Duty To Accomodate18	Meals And Expenses	
<b>,</b>	Medical Insurance	
E	Moving Expenses	17
Education16	N	
Education Leave33	New Or Changed Job Classification	36
Expedited Arbitration23	Notice	
Extended Health Benefits25, 58	1401100	
Eyeglasses25	0	
F	Orthodontic	30
Family Deepensibility Leave 44	Out Of Town Assignments	22
Family Responsibility Leave14 Fuel Costs20	Р	
		20
G	Paid Holidays	
General Leave33	Paid Holidays Parental Leave	
Grievance Procedure23	Personal Leave	
	ı Gısulai Leave	02

Personal Use Gas Reimbursement21	T	
Picket Line15	Technology Change	38
Polygraph Tests16	Temporary Or Relief Personnel	
Pregnancy Leave13	Time Off To Vote	
Prescription Plan25	Trial Period	
Probationary Period10	111011 01100	
R	U	
Decall Dresedure	Union Committees	15
Recall Procedure	Union Made Vehicle	21
Respectful Workplace	Union Membership	16
Respectful Workplace50	Unpaid Leave Of Absence	
Rest Period	USW Education Fund	
Retirement Benefits		
Rx Drug Formulary59	V	
S	Vacation Period	8
	Vacations With Pay	
Sabbatical35	Vehicle Allowance	
Safety Committee11	Vehicle Maintenance	
Savings Clause		
Seniority	W	
Seniority Lists10	Magaa	25
Severance Pay15	Wages	ാ
Sexual Harassment16	Weekly Indemnity	
Sick Leave28	Work Loads	
Sick Leave Payout28	Workers' Compensation Supplemen	l∠8
Statement Of Earnings36		
Statutory Holidays7		
Supplementary Life Insurance26		